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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act.    Yes  ¨    No  x.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
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registrant�s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K.    ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the
definitions of �large accelerated filer, accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
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Non-accelerated filer ¨ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ¨    No  x.
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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (�Form 10-K�) contains certain forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future operating
results that are subject to the safe harbors created under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (�Securities Act�), and the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (�Exchange Act�). These statements may include words such as �anticipate,� �estimate,� �expect,� �project,� �plan,� �intend,�
�believe,� �may,� �will,� �should,� �likely� and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of the timing or nature of
future operating or financial performance or other events. All of these forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that
could cause our actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause
or contribute to such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed under �Item 1A of Part I�Risk Factors� and elsewhere in this Form
10-K. The forward-looking statements included in this document are made only as of the date of this report, and we undertake no obligation to
publicly update these forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

Item 1. Business.
Overview

Pendrell Corporation (�Pendrell�), together with its consolidated subsidiaries, is referred to as �us,� we,� or the �Company.� Through our consolidated
subsidiaries, we have invested in, acquired and developed businesses with unique technologies that are often protected by intellectual property
(�IP�) rights, and that present the opportunity to address large, global markets. Our subsidiaries create value from our innovations, both by making
our IP available for use by third parties and by developing and bringing to market products using our IP. We regularly evaluate our existing
investments to determine whether retention or disposition is appropriate, and we investigate new investment and business acquisition
opportunities. We also advise clients on various IP strategies and transactions.

Pendrell was originally incorporated in 2000 as New ICO Global Communications (Holdings) Limited, a Delaware corporation. In July 2011,
we changed our name to Pendrell Corporation. On November 14, 2012, we reincorporated from Delaware to Washington. The reincorporation
merely changed our legal domicile. Our consolidated financial condition and results of operations immediately after consummation of the
reincorporation were the same as those immediately prior to the reincorporation. Our principal executive office is located at 2300 Carillon Point,
Kirkland, Washington 98033, and our telephone number is (425) 278-7100. Our website address is www.pendrell.com. The information
contained in or that can be accessed through our website is not part of this Form 10-K.

Our Business

Revenue Generating Activities

We generate revenues by licensing and selling our IP rights to others, and by advising clients on various IP matters. We also develop products
that rely on our IP rights, although these offerings do not presently generate revenue. Our subsidiaries held approximately 1,200 patents as of
December 31, 2014, with expiration dates ranging from 2015 to 2033, and with an average remaining life of approximately 6.2 years. These
patents support four IP licensing programs that we own and manage: (i) digital media, (ii) digital cinema, (iii) wireless technologies, and
(iv) memory and storage technologies.

Our digital media program is supported by patents and patent applications designed to protect against unauthorized duplication and use of digital
content that is transferred from a source to one or more electronic devices. The majority of our digital media patents and patent applications
came to us through our October 2011 purchase of a 90.1% interest in ContentGuard, where we partnered with Time Warner to expand the
development and licensing of ContentGuard�s industry-leading portfolio of digital rights management (�DRM�) technologies. At that time,
ContentGuard held more than 260 issued patents and more than 160 pending applications
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worldwide. Our digital media licensees include manufacturers, distributors and providers of consumer products, including Casio Hitachi Mobile
Communications, Fujitsu, LG Electronics, Microsoft Corporation, Nokia, Panasonic, Pantech, Sharp, Sony, Toshiba, Technicolor, S.A., Time
Warner and Xerox Corporation. Other companies that manufacture, distribute or provide DRM-enabled consumer products and that we believe
use ContentGuard�s innovations, including Amazon, Apple, Blackberry, DirecTV, Google, HTC, Huawei, Motorola Mobility and Samsung (the
�ContentGuard Defendants�), have not agreed to license our digital media assets, which prompted us to file claims against them for patent
infringement.

Our digital cinema program is supported by patents and patent applications designed to protect against unauthorized creation, duplication and
use of digital cinema content that is authored and distributed to movie theaters globally, many of which also came to us through our acquisition
of ContentGuard. Potential digital cinema licensees include distributors and exhibitors of digital content, including motion picture producers,
motion picture distributors and equipment vendors. We launched our digital cinema program in June 2013, and have engaged in licensing
discussions with leading feature film studios.

Our wireless technologies program is supported by approximately 800 U.S. and foreign patents and patent applications, many of which enable
key functionality in cellular and digital wireless devices and infrastructure. These patents and patent applications were developed by leading
innovators in the wireless space, including Philips, IBM and ETRI, and cover key innovations in the cellular industry and digital wireless
arena. Key technologies covered include 3G (e.g., W-CDMA, HSDPA, HSUPA), 4G (e.g., LTE, VoLTE), Bluetooth, Wi-Fi, and NFC
technologies. Potential licensees include suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, and providers of wireless devices and infrastructure, including
manufacturers and distributors of handsets, tablets, laptops, and other connected devices. We launched our wireless technologies program in Fall
2012, and are in discussions with several manufacturers of products that we believe rely on our wireless innovations.

Our memory and storage technologies program is supported by approximately 160 patents and patent applications, the majority of which were
acquired from Nokia Corporation in March 2013, of which 81 have been declared by Nokia to be essential to standards that are applicable to
memory and storage technologies used in electronic devices. These patents cover embedded memory components and storage subsystems.
Potential licensees include flash memory component suppliers, solid state disk manufacturers and device vendors. We commenced discussions
with potential licensees in late 2013, and subsequently entered into two license agreements with leading technology companies in 2014, and
another license with a leading technology company in early 2015. Currently, our memory and storage technologies licensees include Samsung
Electronics and SK hynix.

We typically license our patents via agreements that cover entire patent portfolios or large segments of portfolios. We expect licensing
negotiations with prospective licensees to take approximately 12 to 24 months, and perhaps longer, measured from inception of technical
discussions regarding the scope of our patents. If we are unable to secure reasonable, negotiated licenses, we may resort to litigation to enforce
our IP rights. For example, in late 2013 and early 2014, ContentGuard asserted infringement claims against the ContentGuard Defendants.

Our IP revenue generation activities are not limited to licensing and litigation. Patents that we believe may generate greater value through a sales
transaction may be sold. In addition, we provide IP valuation services, analysis and strategic advice to third parties, including IP portfolio
development, strategic assessment of IP assets, IP landscape analysis and risk mitigation strategies. Although our revenue may occur in different
forms, we regard our IP monetization activities as integrated and not separate revenue streams.

Product Development Activities

Through our subsidiaries we continue our efforts to develop new solutions to complex problems, including the development of products that
commercialize our IP rights. For instance, in December 2013, through ContentGuard, we launched a digital content protection application for
mobile device users, the functionality of which we continued to expand throughout 2014. During October 2014, ContentGuard launched Yovo®,
our next-generation ephemeral photo and messaging application. Yovo® facilitates ephemeral photo sharing. Designed for

2

Edgar Filing: Pendrell Corp - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 6



Table of Contents

sending scrambled photo messages via email, texting, Facebook and Twitter, Yovo® offers features such as full encryption, screen capture
scrambling and a self-destruct timer that allows a sender to grant viewing rights for as little as one second and as long as 24 hours. These mobile
applications, based on technologies developed by ContentGuard over the past fifteen years, are designed to address consumer demand for
enhanced Internet privacy through solutions that restrict access to and limit the life of content. Our continuing development of these ephemeral
content protection solutions reflects our commitment to continued innovation, including the development of products to commercialize our IP
rights.

In early 2015, we suspended further development of the Provitro� proprietary micro-propagation technology and related laboratory processes that
are designed to facilitate production on a commercial scale of certain plants, particularly timber bamboo. Although we continued to pursue
revenue generating business opportunities through the fourth quarter, we were unable to identify opportunities to justify continued
commercialization efforts. In the absence of opportunities, we determined that we should not sustain the cost structure required for continued
development of the technology. As a result, we began seeking a buyer for Provitro�s assets and took an impairment charge equal to our
unamortized investment in the Provitro� technology and related goodwill in our 2014 results of operations. In addition, in early 2015, we reached
agreement with Provitro�s minority partner to cancel the ownership interest in Provitro that we did not already own for nominal consideration,
thereby leaving us with 100% ownership of Provitro.

Business Outlook

From 2011 through late 2014, we focused on acquiring and growing companies that developed or possess unique, innovative technologies that
can be licensed to third parties or provide a competitive advantage to products we develop and bring to market. In pursuit of this strategy, we
invested our capital in companies with IP that we believe is undervalued, underutilized or not fully commercialized, or directly in IP assets. We
also regularly explored acquisition and investment opportunities to supplement our existing businesses or to expand the scope of our businesses.

We explored a number of business development opportunities during 2014. However, due to escalating valuations which we attribute to
inexpensive and widely available capital, we did not complete any transactions during the year. We expect this trend to continue and have
therefore slowed our exploratory activity and reduced our costs by eliminating certain positions, abandoning certain patent assets that do not
support our existing licensing programs, and lowering facilities costs. This does not mean we discontinued our assessment of opportunities to
commercialize unique technologies and related businesses or otherwise invest our capital in opportunities which may be unrelated to our
historical IP monetization activities, but until market conditions change, we expect to take a thoughtful and measured approach to potential
transactions. In the meantime, we will concentrate our efforts on generating revenue from our existing assets.

Competition

Due to the unique nature of our IP rights, we do not compete directly with other patent holders or patent applicants. However, to the extent that
multiple parties seek royalties on the same product or service, we might as a practical matter compete for a share of reasonable royalties from
manufacturers and distributors.

If we continue to pursue IP rights to strengthen our existing licensing programs or launch new ones, we may compete with well-capitalized
companies pursuing those same IP rights. We may also face indirect competition from prospective licensees, some of whom may be evaluating
and implementing technologies that obviate the need to obtain a license to our IP rights.

Divestiture of Satellite Assets

When we were formed in 2000, our intent was to develop and operate a next generation global mobile satellite communications system. In 2011,
we started selling assets associated with the satellite business,
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including our interests in DBSD North America, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as �DBSD�) to DISH Network Corporation for
$325 million, from which we recognized a gain of approximately $301 million associated with the disposition. During 2012, we divested the
remaining vestiges of our satellite business, including the sale of our remaining medium earth orbit satellites and related equipment and our real
property in Brazil, the transfer to a liquidating trust (the �Liquidating Trust�) of certain former subsidiaries associated with the satellite business
(the �International Subsidiaries�) to address the winding down of the International Subsidiaries, and the settlement of our litigation with The
Boeing Company (�Boeing�).

The 2012 disposal of our satellite assets and the transfer of the International Subsidiaries to the Liquidating Trust resulted in the elimination of
approximately $61.9 million in satellite-related liabilities, a one-time $48.7 million gain, and the triggering of tax losses of approximately $2.4
billion, which we believe can be carried forward for up to twenty years. Additionally, our settlement with Boeing yielded a $10.0 million
payment from Boeing and Boeing�s waiver of its right to appellate costs in exchange for the withdrawal of our appeal of the Boeing judgment.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, on a consolidated basis, we had 57 full-time employees located in Washington, California, Texas, Washington D.C.
and Finland.

Available Information

The address of our website is www.pendrell.com. You can find additional information about us and our business on our website. We make
available on this website, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such materials to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (�SEC�). You may read and copy this Form 10-K at the SEC�s public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549-0102. Information on the operation of the public reference room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. These filings are
also accessible on the SEC�s website at www.sec.gov.

We also make available on our website in a printable format the charters for certain of our various Board of Director committees, including the
Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee, and our Code of Conduct and Ethics in
addition to our Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and Tax Benefits Preservation Plan. This information is available in print without charge to any
shareholder who requests it by sending a request to Pendrell Corporation, 2300 Carillon Point, Kirkland, Washington 98033, Attn: Corporate
Secretary. The material on our website is not incorporated into or part of this Form 10-K.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
The risks below address some of the factors that may affect our future operating results and financial performance. If any of the following risks
develop into actual events, then our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to our Patents and Monetization Activities

Success of our licensing efforts depends on our ability to enter into new license agreements or otherwise enforce our intellectual property
rights.

Our licensing business depends on sustaining and growing our IP licensing revenue. IP licensing revenues are dependent on our ability to enter
into new license agreements with, or otherwise enforce our intellectual property rights against, users of our patented inventions. If users refuse to
sign or renew license agreements, we may need to resort to litigation or other measures to compel the payment of fair consideration, which may
or may
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not be effective. This risk applies not only to new license agreements, but to existing license agreements with fixed expiration dates. If we fail to
sign or renew license agreements on terms that are favorable to us or obtain favorable outcomes through litigation or other enforcement actions,
our business opportunity could be negatively impacted.

If we fail to expand our portfolios, revenue opportunities from our IP monetization efforts will be limited.

Patents have finite lives. Our IP portfolio currently consists of patents that expire between 2015 and 2033, as well as patent applications. Our
portfolio has an average remaining life of approximately 6.2 years. If we fail to develop or acquire new patentable inventions prior to the
expiration of our patents, our licensing opportunities will be limited.

We may have a limited number of prospective licensees.

The patent portfolios that we own and may acquire in the future may be applicable to only a limited number of prospective licensees. As such, if
we are unable to enter into licenses with this limited group, and if we fail to expand the breadth and depth of our patent portfolios, licensing
revenue will be adversely impacted.

Our licensing cycle is lengthy, and our licensing efforts may be unsuccessful.

The process of licensing to customers can be lengthy, sometimes spanning a number of years. We expect to incur significant legal and sales
expenses prior to entering into license agreements and generating license revenues. We also expect to spend considerable resources educating
prospective licensees on the benefits of a license arrangement with us. As such, we may incur significant losses in any particular period before
any associated revenue is generated. Moreover, if our portfolio is not demonstrably applicable to prospective licensees� products or services,
whether due to poor quality, lack of breadth or otherwise, parties may refuse to enter into license agreements.

Enforcement proceedings may be costly and ineffective and could lead to impairment of our IP assets.

We may choose to pursue litigation or other enforcement action to protect our intellectual property rights, such as the litigation we initiated
against the ContentGuard Defendants. Enforcement proceedings are typically protracted and complex, and might require cooperation of
inventors and others who are unwilling or unable to assist with enforcement. Litigation also involves several stages, including the potential for a
prolonged appeals process. The costs are typically substantial, and the outcomes are unpredictable. We may receive a ruling or judgment, or we
may enter into licenses or settlement agreements that might compel us to revalue the IP assets that we are enforcing or the goodwill value of our
enforcing subsidiary, which in turn might result in a reduction to the financial statement carrying value of such assets through a corresponding
impairment charge which would adversely affect our results of operations and our financial position. Enforcement actions will likely divert our
managerial, technical, legal and financial resources from business operations. In certain cases, we may conclude that these costs and risks
outweigh the potential benefits that would arise from successful enforcement, in which event we may opt not to pursue enforcement.

Our business could be negatively impacted if our inventions are not incorporated into products.

Our licensing revenues have been generated from manufacturers and distributors of products that incorporate our patented inventions. Our
business prospects could be negatively impacted if prospective licensees do not include our inventions in their products, or if they later modify
their products to eliminate use of our inventions.

As we incorporate our IP into product offerings, we could face new risks.

As we seek to commercialize our IP through product offerings, we could face risks that we have not previously confronted, including IP
infringement risks, product liability risks, and other risks. The outcome of
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proceedings arising from or related to such risks could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or cash flows in any particular
period. In addition, any growth associated with product offerings is largely dependent on the timing and market acceptance of any new product
offerings, including our ability to continually modernize our products and bring those products to market. If any products we offer are not
commercially successful, our results of operation and reputation could be adversely affected.

We may not recover costs of our commercialization activities.

We may incur significant costs to advance our commercialization efforts that might not be recovered if our efforts are unsuccessful. Our failure
to recover such costs could adversely affect our results of operations and our financial position.

Future innovations could make our inventions obsolete.

Our success depends, in part, on continued demand for products that incorporate our patented inventions. Changes in technology or customer
requirements could render our patented inventions obsolete or unmarketable.

Challenges to the validity or enforceability of our key patents could significantly harm our business.

Our assets include patents that are integral to our business and revenues. Prospective licensees or competitors may challenge the validity, scope,
enforceability and ownership of our patents. Their challenges may include review requests in the relevant patent and trademark office, such as
the inter partes review and covered business method proceedings initiated by certain ContentGuard Defendants. Review proceedings are costly
and time-consuming, and we cannot predict their outcome or consequences. Such proceedings may narrow the scope of our claims or may
cancel some or all of our claims. If some or all of our patent claims are canceled, we could be prevented from enforcing or earning future
revenues from such patents. Even if our claims are not canceled, enforcement actions against alleged infringers, such as our litigation against the
ContentGuard Defendants, may be stayed pending resolution of reviews, or courts or tribunals reviewing our patent claims could make findings
adverse to our interests based on facts presented in review proceedings. Irrespective of outcome, review challenges may result in substantial
legal expenses and diversion of management�s time and attention away from our other business operations. Adverse decisions could impair the
value of our inventions or result in a loss of our proprietary rights and may adversely affect our results of operations and our financial position.

Delays in issuance of patents could harm our business.

We may acquire and pursue additional patents and related intellectual property rights. If we do, our patent applications will add to a growing
number of patent applications, which may result in longer delays in obtaining approval of such patent applications. The application delays could
cause delays in recognizing revenue from new patents and could cause us to miss opportunities to license or enforce patents before other
competing technologies are developed or introduced into the market.

Changes in patent law could adversely impact our business.

Patent laws may continue to change, and may alter protections afforded to owners of patent rights, impose additional enforcement risks, increase
the costs of enforcement, or increase our licensing cycles. For instance, during 2013, legislative initiatives were introduced to address perceived
patent abuses by non-practicing entities. Although legislation was not enacted, similar legislation has been introduced in 2015. Even if
legislative initiatives do not directly impact our business, such initiatives might encourage manufacturers to infringe our IP rights, lengthen our
licensing cycles, increase the likelihood that we will litigate to enforce our IP rights, or make it more difficult and expensive to license our
patents or enforce our patents against parties using our inventions without a license. Moreover, increased focus on the growing number of
patent-related lawsuits may result in legislative changes which increase our costs and related risks of asserting patent enforcement actions.
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Changes of interpretations of patent law could adversely impact our business.

Our success in review and enforcement proceedings relies in part on the historically consistent application of patent laws and regulations.
Interpretations of patent laws and regulations by the courts and applicable regulatory bodies have evolved, and may continue to evolve,
particularly with the introduction of new laws and regulations. Changes or potential changes in judicial interpretation could have a negative
impact on our ability to monetize our patent rights.

Risks Related to our Acquisition Activities

We may over-estimate the value of assets or businesses we acquire.

We make investments from which we intend to generate a return. We estimate the value of these investments prior to acquisition, using both
objective and subjective methodologies. If we over-estimate such value, we may not generate desired returns on our investment, or we may need
to adjust the value of the investments to fair value and record a corresponding impairment charge, either of which could adversely affect our
results of operations and our financial position.

We may not capitalize on acquired assets.

Even if we accurately value the investments we make, we must succeed in generating a return on the investments. For instance, our subsidiaries
that own IP rights must commercialize, license, or otherwise monetize the IP rights in order to generate a return on our investment. Our success
in generating a return, particularly with respect to our IP rights, depends on effective efforts of our employees and outside professionals, which
typically requires complex analysis, the exercise of sound professional judgment and effective education of prospective licensees and customers.
If we do not generate desired returns on our investments or if we are compelled to adjust the value of the investments to fair value and record a
corresponding impairment charge, it could adversely affect our results of operations and our financial position.

We may pursue other acquisition or investment opportunities that do not yield desired results.

We intend to continue investigating potential acquisitions that support our business objectives and strategy. Acquisitions are time-consuming,
complex and costly. The terms of acquisition agreements tend to be heavily negotiated. As a result, we may incur significant transactional
expenses, regardless of whether or not acquisitions are consummated. Moreover, the integration of acquired companies prompts significant
challenges, and we can provide no assurances that the integration of acquired businesses with our business will result in the realization of the full
benefits we anticipate from such acquisitions. Investigating businesses and assets and integrating newly acquired businesses or assets may be
costly and time-consuming, and such activities could divert our attention from other business concerns. In addition, we might lose key
employees while integrating new organizations. Acquisitions could also result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities or the
incurrence of debt, the assumption or incurrence of contingent liabilities, possible impairment charges related to goodwill or other intangible
assets or other unanticipated events or circumstances, any of which could negatively impact our financial position. We might not be successful
in integrating acquired businesses, and might not achieve desired revenues and cost benefits.

We rely on representations, warranties and opinions from third parties that might not be accurate.

When we acquire assets or businesses or establish relationships with inventors or strategic partners, we may rely on representations and
warranties made by third parties. We also may rely on opinions of lawyers and other professionals. We may not have the opportunity to
independently investigate and verify the facts upon which such representations, warranties and opinions are made. By relying on these
representations, warranties and opinions, we may be exposed to unforeseen liabilities that could have a material adverse effect on our operating
results and financial condition.
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Risks Related to our Operations

Our financial and operating results have been and may continue to be uneven.

Our operating results may fluctuate and, as such, our operating results are difficult to predict. You should not rely on quarterly or annual
comparisons of our results of operations as an indication of our future performance. Factors that could cause our operating results to fluctuate
during any period or that could adversely affect our operating results include the timing of license, sales and consulting agreements, compliance
with such agreements, the terms and conditions for payment under those agreements, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property
rights, changes in demand for products that incorporate our inventions, the time period between commencement and completion of license
negotiations or enforcement proceedings, revenue recognition principles, and changes in accounting policies.

Our revenues have not and may not offset our operating expenses.

Through 2014, we developed and expanded our business by acquiring IP assets, developing new solutions and products and expanding the reach
and scope of our IP business. We also incurred expenses to hire new personnel, including employees for IP services, patent research and
analysis, development of reporting systems and general and administrative functions and to pay legal fees for IP enforcement activities. As a
result, our costs exceeded our revenues, and although we have recently scaled back our expansion efforts, we anticipate that costs will continue
to exceed revenues until and unless we generate additional revenue from our existing assets. If we are not successful in generating revenue that
is sufficient to offset our expenses, our financial position will be negatively impacted.

Failure to effectively manage the composition of our employee base could strain our business.

Our success depends, in large part, on continued contributions of our key managers and employees, many of whom are highly skilled and would
be difficult to replace. Our success also depends on our ability to attract, train and retain highly skilled personnel, and on the abilities of new
personnel to function effectively, both individually and as a group. Recently, we terminated the employment of certain individuals (including IP
consultants) who we believe were redundant or unnecessary to advance our current and anticipated business initiatives. If we misjudged our
ongoing personnel needs or lose any of our remaining senior managers or key personnel, it could lead to dissatisfaction among our clients or
licensees, which could slow our growth or result in a loss of business. Moreover, if we fail to manage the composition of our employee base
effectively or otherwise strain our relationships with our personnel, our business and financial results may be materially harmed.

Our provision of IP-related services could result in professional liability that may damage our reputation.

Our provision of IP-related services typically involves complex analysis and the exercise of professional judgment. As a result, we are subject to
the risk of professional liability. If a client questions the quality of our work, the client could threaten or bring a lawsuit to recover damages or
contest its obligation to pay fees. Litigation alleging that we performed negligently or breached any other obligations to a client could expose us
to legal liabilities and, regardless of outcome, could be costly, distract our management and damage our reputation.

Rights of minority shareholders may limit future value.

The governing documents for certain subsidiaries which we do not wholly own describe certain actions that require unanimous consent of their
respective shareholders. For instance, we entered into a voting agreement with Time Warner that survives so long as Time Warner holds a
material interest in ContentGuard, and which requires the prior written consent of both us and Time Warner before ContentGuard commits its
patents to a standards body or patent pool, grants any license that facilitates copyright theft, undertakes certain litigation, or sells or transfers any
material patents free of these three restrictions. Historically, shareholder consent requirements have not adversely impacted our business, but
circumstances could change. Moreover, we may enter into investments in the future that involve similar or more restrictive governance
provisions. If our interests

8

Edgar Filing: Pendrell Corp - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 12



Table of Contents

and the interests of our partners or other shareholders in these investments diverge, we may be unable to capitalize on business opportunities or
prevented from realizing favorable returns on investments.

If we need financing and cannot obtain financing on favorable terms, our business may suffer.

We have relied on revenues from clients and licensees and existing cash reserves to finance our operations. If we deploy a significant portion of
our capital or encounter unforeseen difficulties in the future that deplete our capital resources more rapidly than anticipated, we may need to
obtain additional financing. Financing might not be available on favorable terms, if at all, may dilute our existing shareholders, and may prompt
us to pursue structural changes that could impact shareholder concentration and liquidity. If we fail to obtain additional capital as and when
needed, such failure could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Future changes in standards, rules, practices or interpretation may impact our financial results.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
These principles are subject to interpretations by the SEC and various accounting bodies. In addition, we are subject to various taxation rules in
many jurisdictions. The existing taxation rules are generally complex, voluminous, frequently changing and often ambiguous. Changes to
existing taxation rules, changes to the financial accounting standards, or any changes to the interpretations of these standards or rules, or changes
in practices under these standards and rules, may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business.

Unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information could adversely affect our business.

We rely primarily on a combination of license agreements, nondisclosure agreements, other contractual relationships and patent, trademark,
trade secret and copyright laws to protect our confidential and proprietary information, our technology and our intellectual property. We cannot
be certain that these protections have not been and will not be breached, that we will be able to timely detect unauthorized use or transfer of our
trade secrets or intellectual property, that we will have adequate remedies for any breach, or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become
known or be independently discovered by competitors. If we are unable to detect in a timely manner the unauthorized use or disclosure of our
proprietary or other confidential information or if we are unable to enforce our rights under our agreements or applicable laws, the
misappropriation of such information could harm our business.

Risks Related to the Tax Losses Generated from Our Former Satellite Communications Business

Our ability to benefit from our United States federal income tax loss carryforward may be impacted by changes in the tax laws.

We have substantial historical net operating losses (�NOLs�) for United States federal income tax purposes. As of December 31, 2014, we had
NOL carryforwards of approximately $2.5 billion. A significant portion of our NOL was triggered when we disposed of our satellite business.
We believe these NOLs can be carried forward to offset certain future taxable income. However, our ability to benefit from these historical
NOLs is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during the loss carryforward period. The NOL carryforward period begins to
expire in 2025 with the bulk of the NOLs expiring in 2032. If the tax laws are amended to limit or eliminate our ability to carryforward the
NOLs for any reason, or to lower income tax rates, the value of the NOLs may be significantly reduced.

An Ownership Change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code may significantly limit Pendrell�s ability to use its NOLs to offset
future taxable income.

Our use of our NOLs will be significantly limited if we undergo a Tax Ownership Change, as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code. Broadly, Pendrell will have a Tax Ownership Change if, over a three-
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year testing period, the portion of all stock of Pendrell, by value, owned by one or more 5% shareholder increases by more than 50 percentage
points. For purposes of this test, shareholders that own less than 5% of the stock of Pendrell are aggregated into one or more separate �public
groups,� each of which is treated as a 5% shareholder. In general, shares traded within a public group are not included in the Tax Ownership
Change test. Despite our adoption of certain protections against a Tax Ownership Change (such as our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan), we
cannot control the trading activity of our significant shareholders. If significant shareholders divest their shares in a manner or at times that do
not account for the loss-limiting provisions of the Internal Revenue Code or regulations adopted thereunder, a Tax Ownership Change could
occur. If a Tax Ownership Change occurs when the value of the Class A Common Stock is low, Pendrell will be permanently unable to use most
of its NOLs.

Our NOLs cannot be used to offset the Personal Holding Company tax.

The Internal Revenue Code imposes an additional tax on the undistributed income of a Personal Holding Company (�PHC�). In general, a
corporation will be classified as a PHC if more than 50% of its outstanding shares, measured by value, are owned directly or indirectly by five or
fewer individuals and at least 60% of its adjusted gross income is Personal Holding Company Income (�PHCI�). Broadly, PHCI includes income
such as dividends, interest, rents and royalties, among others. We believe that any income from ContentGuard�s resolution of its claims against
the ContentGuard Defendants will be classified as PHCI. Due to the significant number of shares held by our largest shareholders, we must
continually assess share ownership of Pendrell and each of our consolidated subsidiaries, including ContentGuard. To date neither Pendrell, as
the parent company, nor any of our consolidated subsidiaries have incurred a PCH tax obligation. However, it is possible that action or inaction
by significant shareholders could result in a future PHC tax liability. The PHC tax, which is in addition to the income tax, is currently levied at
20% of the net PHCI not distributed to the corporation�s shareholders.

Our NOLs cannot be used to completely offset the Alternative Minimum Tax or other taxes.

We may also be subject to the corporate Alternative Minimum Tax (�AMT�) in a year in which we have net taxable income because the AMT
cannot be completely offset by available NOLs, as losses carried forward generally can offset no more than 90% of a corporation�s AMT
liability. In addition, our federal NOLs will not shield us from foreign withholding taxes, state and local income taxes, or revenue-based taxes
incurred in jurisdictions that impose such taxes.

Our ability to utilize our NOLs is dependent on the generation of future taxable income.

Our ability to utilize our NOLs is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income before the expiration of the carry forward period
attributable to the NOLs, which begin to expire in 2025. We did not generate taxable income in 2013 or 2014 and we may not generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to use the NOLs before they begin expiring.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock

Future sales of our Class A common stock could depress the market price.

The average trading volume of our Class A common stock is low in relation to the number of outstanding shares of Class A common stock. As a
result, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares. These sales might also make
it more difficult for us to sell shares in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate.

A sale of a large number of shares by our largest shareholders could depress the market price of our Class A common stock.

A small number of our shareholders hold a majority of our Class A common stock and our Class B common stock, which is convertible at the
option of the holders into Class A common stock. The sale or prospect of the
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sale of a substantial number of these shares could have an adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common stock.

The interests of our controlling shareholder may conflict with the interests of other Class A holders.

Eagle River Satellite Holdings, LLC, together with its affiliates Eagle River Investments, LLC, Eagle River, Inc. and Eagle River Partners, LLC
(collectively, �Eagle River�) controls approximately 65% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. As a result, Eagle River has control
over the outcome of matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election of directors, amendments to our governing documents, the
adoption or prevention of mergers, consolidations or sales of all or substantially all of our assets, or control changes. Eagle River is not restricted
or prohibited from competing with us.

We are a �controlled company� within the meaning of the NASD Marketplace Rules and, as a result, will qualify for, and may rely on,
exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements.

Eagle River controls approximately 65% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. As a result, we are a �controlled company� within
the meaning of the Nasdaq Global Select Market corporate governance standards, and therefore may elect not to comply with certain Nasdaq
Global Select Market corporate governance requirements, including (i) the requirement that a majority of the board of directors consist of
independent directors, (ii) the requirement that the compensation of officers be determined, or recommended to the board of directors for
determination, by a majority of the independent directors or a compensation committee comprised solely of independent directors, and (iii) the
requirement that director nominees be selected, or recommended for the board of directors� selection, by a majority of the independent directors
or a nominating committee comprised solely of independent directors with a written charter or board resolution addressing the nomination
process. We do not currently rely on any of these exemptions, but reserve the right to do so in the future. If we choose to do so, our shareholders
may not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all of the Nasdaq Global Select Market corporate
governance requirements.

Our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan, as well as certain provisions in our restated articles of incorporation, may discourage takeovers, which
could affect the rights of holders of our Class A common stock.

Our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan is intended to act as a deterrent against any person or group acquiring or otherwise obtaining beneficial
ownership of more than 4.9% of our securities without the approval of our board of directors. In addition, our articles of incorporation require us
to take all necessary and appropriate action to protect certain rights of our common shareholders, including voting, dividend and conversion
rights and rights in the event of a liquidation, merger, consolidation or sale of substantially all of our assets. Our articles of incorporation also
provide that we will not avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of those rights by charter amendment, entry into an inconsistent
agreement or reorganization, recapitalization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution or the issuance or sale of securities. The rights
protected by these provisions of the articles of incorporation include our Class B common shareholders� right to ten votes per share on matters
submitted to a vote of our shareholders and option to convert each share of Class B common stock into one share of Class A common stock. The
provisions of the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan and our articles of incorporation could discourage takeovers of our company, which could
adversely affect the rights of our shareholders.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Item 2. Properties.
Our corporate headquarters are located in Kirkland, Washington, where we occupy approximately 8,050 square feet of space. Our employees are
primarily located in offices in California, Texas and Washington. Upon expiration of our various leases, we do not anticipate any difficulty in
obtaining renewals or alternative space.
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The following table lists our leased properties for our principal places of business as of December 31, 2014:

Location Lease Term

Square
Footage
(Approx.)

Berkeley, CA Expires October 31, 2017 5,671
Plano, TX Expires December 31, 2018 2,995
Kirkland, WA Expires July 31, 2019 8,050
We believe our facilities are adequate for our current business and operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Enforcement Action against Amazon et. al.�On December 18, 2013, ContentGuard filed a patent infringement lawsuit against Amazon.com, Inc.,
Apple Inc., Blackberry Corporation (fka Research in Motion Corporation), Huawei Device USA, Inc. and Motorola Mobility LLC in the Eastern
District of Texas, in which ContentGuard alleged that these ContentGuard Defendants infringed and continue to infringe nine of its patents by
making, using, selling or offering for sale certain mobile communication and computing devices (the �Amazon Litigation�). On January 17, 2014,
ContentGuard filed an amended complaint in the Amazon Litigation adding certain affiliates of the original defendants, along with HTC
Corporation, HTC America Inc., Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd., Samsung Electronics America, Inc. and Samsung Telecommunications
America, LLC. In August 2014, DirecTV intervened in the case and thereby became an additional ContentGuard Defendant, against whom
ContentGuard asserted additional infringement claims. In February 2015, the presiding judge heard claim construction arguments from all
parties. Trials are scheduled for September 2015. We are unable to anticipate the timing or outcome of the Amazon Litigation.

Google Actions�On January 31, 2014, Google Inc. (�Google�) filed a declaratory judgment suit in the Northern District of California alleging that
Google does not infringe the nine patents asserted in the Amazon Litigation. On February 5, 2014, ContentGuard filed a patent infringement
action in the Eastern District of Texas against Google, in which ContentGuard alleges that Google has infringed and continues to infringe the
same nine patents. In April 2014, the presiding judge in the Eastern District of Texas, with the endorsement of the presiding judge in the
Northern District of California, ruled that all claims by and against Google will be resolved in the Eastern District of Texas, and not in the
Northern District of California. The presiding judge also declined to consolidate the Google actions with the Amazon Litigation. In February
2015, the presiding judge heard claim construction arguments. Trial is scheduled for September 2015. We are unable to anticipate the timing or
outcome of the actions by and against Google.

IPR and CBM Petitions by ContentGuard Defendants�In December 2014, Apple filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the
�USPTO�) twenty-nine inter partes review (�IPR�) petitions and three covered business method (�CBM�) petitions, through which Apple is
challenging the validity of all nine patents asserted in the Amazon Litigation. Also in December 2014, Google filed three CBMs, challenging the
validity of three of the nine asserted patents. The USPTO will decide in the coming months whether to initiate review proceedings on some or all
of the IPR and CBM petitions. The USPTO�s Patent Trial and Appeal Board (�PTAB�), which hears all IPR and CBM challenges, will administer
and hear argument in any initiated proceedings. We are unable to predict whether or not proceedings will be initiated, or whether or not such
proceedings will impact the timing or outcome of our claims against the ContentGuard Defendants.

ZTE IPRs �In early 2012, ContentGuard and its subsidiaries filed lawsuits in United States and German courts, alleging that ZTE Corporation,
ZTE (USA) Inc. and ZTE Deutschland GmbH (collectively �ZTE�) infringed and continue to infringe ContentGuard patents by making, using,
selling or offering for sale certain mobile communication and computing devices. ZTE subsequently filed IPR petitions with the USPTO,
challenging the validity of six U.S. patents asserted by ContentGuard against ZTE. The PTAB terminated proceedings with respect to two
patents, both of which emerged with valid patent claims. ZTE�s claims against
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the other four patents, all of which are also asserted against the ContentGuard Defendants, went to trial. Following trial, the PTAB rejected ZTE�s
remaining challenges, and confirmed the validity of all claims in the four patents. ZTE�s time for appeal expired with no appeals filed. As a
result, the decisions of the PTAB, as against ZTE, are now final. Nonetheless, all four affirmed patents have been challenged in fourteen new
IPRs filed by Apple, as described in the paragraph above. We are unable to predict whether, and to what extent, the PTAB will allow Apple to
challenge these patents in new proceedings.

ZTE Enforcement Actions� Meanwhile, in response to the claims filed against ZTE in Germany, in which ContentGuard GmbH alleged
infringement of three European patents, ZTE filed a nullity action against two of the patents and an opposition proceeding against the third
patent. The infringement and nullity proceedings in Germany, along with all U.S. court actions, were �put to rest� or stayed as the result of a
standstill agreement signed by ContentGuard and ZTE in December 2013. ZTE prevailed in the opposition proceeding, resulting in the
revocation of one European patent. ContentGuard must decide whether to appeal the revocation prior to end of the first quarter of 2015. We are
unable to anticipate the timing or outcome of the opposition proceedings.

J&J Collection�In November 2012, we obtained an arbitration judgment in the U.K. against Jay and Jayendra (Pty), a South African corporation
(�J&J Group�) for approximately $4.0 million. J&J Group submitted multiple appeals to the U.K. courts, the last of which was rejected in
July 2013. In December 2014, we obtained an enforcement judgment against J&J Group from a South African court. J&J�s time to appeal the
enforcement judgment expired with no appeals filed, and we have commenced action to enforce the judgment. Due to the uncertainty of
collection, we have not recognized the gain associated with the judgment. We are unable to anticipate the timing or outcome of the collection
proceedings against J&J Group.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not Applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant�s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market for Our Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol �PCO.� Effective July 21, 2011, we changed our name
from ICO Global Communications (Holdings) Limited to Pendrell Corporation, and adopted �PCO� as our new ticker symbol. Previously, our
Class A common stock traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol �ICOG.�

The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices of our Class A common stock in U.S. dollars for each of the periods presented. Stock
prices represent amounts published on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. As of February 26, 2015, the closing sales price of our Class A
common stock was $1.12 per share.

2014 2013
Period High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 1.91 $ 1.34 $ 1.66 $ 1.26
Second Quarter $ 1.85 $ 1.39 $ 2.70 $ 1.55
Third Quarter $ 1.84 $ 1.31 $ 2.70 $ 1.88
Fourth Quarter $ 1.67 $ 1.26 $ 2.30 $ 1.76

As of February 26, 2015, there were approximately 340 record holders of our Class A common stock.

Market for Our Class B Common Stock

There is no established trading market for our Class B common stock, of which we have 53,660,000 shares outstanding with two holders of
record. Each share of Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of its holder into one share of Class A common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid a cash dividend on shares of our equity securities. So long as we do not become a personal holding company that is subject
to personal holding company tax, we do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our common shares during the foreseeable future. It is
anticipated that future earnings, if any, from our operations will be used to finance growth.
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Performance Measurement Comparison

The following graph shows the total shareholder return as of the dates indicated of an investment of $100 in cash on December 31, 2009 for:
(i) our Class A common stock; (ii) the Nasdaq Composite Index; and (iii) the Nasdaq 100 Technology Sector Index. All values assume
reinvestment of the full amount of any dividends; however, no dividends have been declared on our Class A common stock to date.

The stock price performance graph below is not necessarily indicative of future performance.

*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.

Fiscal year ending December 31.

12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12 12/13 12/14
Pendrell Corporation 100.00 138.89 237.04 117.59 186.11 127.78
NASDAQ Composite 100.00 117.61 118.70 139.00 196.83 223.74
NASDAQ 100 Technology Sector 100.00 114.80 121.87 143.60 199.67 234.29
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with �Item 7� Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations� and our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in thousands, except per share data)
Revenue(1) $ 42,534 $ 13,128 $ 33,775 $ 2,637 $ �  
Operating expenses:
Cost of revenues(2) 14,170 7,872 314 �  �  
Patent administration and related costs(2) 6,386 4,405 3,655 193 �  
Patent litigation(2) 9,880 4,564 2,538 �  �  
General and administrative(2) 27,467 25,939 29,844 21,822 14,392
Stock-based compensation 9,405 12,345 8,597 5,369 1,794
Amortization of intangibles 15,929 15,864 13,471 1,986 �  
Impairment of finite-lived intangibles and goodwill(3) 11,013 �  �  �  �  
Gain on contract settlements(4)/(5) �  �  �  (4,735) (15,666) 

Operating expenses, net 94,250 70,989 58,419 24,635 520
Operating loss (51,716) (57,861) (24,644) (21,998) (520) 
Net interest expense (99) (64) (2,245) (4,450) (4,316) 
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries(6) �  �  48,685 �  �  
Gain on settlement of Boeing litigation(7) �  �  10,000 �  �  
Gain associated with disposition of assets(8) �  �  5,599 300,886 �  
Gain on liquidation of subsidiaries �  �  �  �  2,459
Other income (expense) (16) (55) 1,588 1,223 (1,094) 

Income (loss) before income taxes (51,831) (57,980) 38,983 275,661 (3,471) 
Income tax benefit (expense)(9) (6,303) �  1,034 42,925 787

Net income (loss) (58,134) (57,980) 40,017 318,586 (2,684) 
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (7,132) (2,918) (67) (274) �  

Net income (loss) attributable to Pendrell $ (51,002) $ (55,062) $ 40,084 $ 318,860 $ (2,684) 

Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Pendrell $ (0.19) $ (0.21) $ 0.16 $ 1.26 $ (0.01) 
Diluted income (loss) per share attributable to Pendrell $ (0.19) $ (0.21) $ 0.15 $ 1.23 $ (0.01) 
Total assets $ 304,104 $ 351,994 $ 381,415 $ 435,047 $ 45,577
Long-term obligations, including current portion of capital lease
obligations(10) $ 1,521 $ 6,695 $ 2,241 $ 76,406 $ 27,921

(1) Prior to the acquisition of Ovidian and ContentGuard during the year ended December 31, 2011, we were a development stage enterprise
and did not generate any revenue from operations.

(2) Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation of expenses in our consolidated statements
of operations, including the presentation of �cost of revenues� and �patent litigation� as separate captions; as such costs were previously
included in �patent administration, litigation and related costs� and �general and administrative� in prior years.

(3) During the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded a non-cash impairment of Provitro�s goodwill and proprietary
micro-propagation technology. Although we believe the technology is sound, we were unable to identify near-term opportunities to
commercialize the technology.

16

Edgar Filing: Pendrell Corp - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 20



Table of Contents

(4) During the year ended December 31, 2011, we recognized a $4.7 million gain associated with a reduction of our estimated liability for
gateway obligations as a result of our agreement to purchase Deutsche Telekom AG�s claim against one of our subsidiaries.

(5) Prior to 2013, certain of our subsidiaries had agreements with ten operators of gateways for our MEO satellite system. Nine of the ten
operators terminated their agreements with us. Of these nine, five were settled with no further obligation by us. In 2010, upon reaching
settlement with our Mexico operator, pursuant to which the operators� claims were legally released, we eliminated the corresponding
accrued liability and recognized a gain on contract settlement of $15.7 million. With respect to the gateways that had not been settled, we
continued to accrue expenses according to our subsidiaries� contractual obligation until the liabilities were transferred to the Liquidating
Trust.

(6) During the year ended December 31, 2012, we transferred our International Subsidiaries to the Liquidating Trust and recognized a gain of
$48.7 million upon their deconsolidation.

(7) We had been in litigation with Boeing regarding the development and launch of our former MEO satellites and related launch vehicles. In
February 2009, the trial court entered judgment in our favor for approximately $603 million. On April 13, 2012, the California Court of
Appeal overturned the judgment. The reversal was the culmination of a three year Court of Appeal process. The Court of Appeal also
ordered us to reimburse Boeing for its appellate costs. On June 25, 2012, we settled our litigation against Boeing. As part of the settlement,
we agreed to withdraw our petition for review to the California Supreme Court in exchange for a $10.0 million payment from Boeing and
Boeing�s waiver of its right to appellate costs. The settlement agreement and mutual release between ourselves and Boeing fully released
and discharged any and all claims between us and Boeing. As a result of the settlement agreement, we recorded a gain of $10.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2012.

(8) In March 2011, upon the sale of our DBSD subsidiary for $325 million we recognized a $301 million gain associated with the disposition
of DBSD and certain other assets pursuant to various agreements entered into with DISH Network. During the year ended December 31,
2012, we sold our real property located in Brazil for approximately $5.6 million.

(9) During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded a tax provision of $6.3 million related to foreign taxes withheld on revenue
generated from a license agreement executed with a licensee domiciled in a foreign jurisdiction. During the year ended December 31,
2011, as a result of recording net deferred tax liabilities pursuant to the acquisition of ContentGuard, we were able to reduce a portion of
our deferred tax valuation allowance resulting in a tax benefit of $40.7 million.

(10) Long-term obligations at December 31, 2014, 2012 and 2011 consisted primarily of deferred tax liabilities. Long-term obligations at
December 31, 2013 include an installment payment obligation arising from the 2013 acquisition of our memory and storage technologies
portfolio, expense related to restricted stock awards that is required to be treated as a liability and deferred tax liabilities. Long-term
obligations at December 31, 2010 consisted primarily of capital lease obligations and income tax obligations associated with uncertain tax
positions.

Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

With the exception of historical facts, the statements contained in this management�s discussion and analysis are �forward-looking� statements. All
of these forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a difference include, but are not limited
to, those discussed under �Item 1A of Part I�Risk Factors� and elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The forward-looking statements included in this
document are made only as of the date of this report, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update these forward-looking statements to
reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

17

Edgar Filing: Pendrell Corp - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 21



Table of Contents

Overview

Through our consolidated subsidiaries, we have invested in, acquired and developed businesses with unique technologies that are often protected
by intellectual property (�IP�) rights, and that present the opportunity to address large, global markets. Our subsidiaries create value from our
innovations, both by making our IP available for use by third parties and by developing and bringing to market products using our IP. We
regularly evaluate our existing investments to determine whether retention or disposition is appropriate, and we investigate new investment and
business acquisition opportunities. We also advise clients on various IP strategies and transactions.

During 2014, we entered into license agreements with two leading technology companies, under which we authorized the use of patents covering
memory and storage technologies. One of the license agreements yielded a significant upfront license fee, while the other generated a smaller
upfront license fee and future royalties. We followed those 2014 signings with an additional memory and storage license in January 2015 that
generated another significant upfront license fee. We intend to continue licensing our memory and storage assets to flash memory component
suppliers, solid state disk manufacturers and device vendors, among others.

We also continue to pursue and advance our other licensing programs. However, the programs supported by our DRM patents (digital media and
digital cinema) have been slowed by ContentGuard�s ongoing litigation with Amazon, Apple, DirecTV, Google, Huawei, HTC, Motorola
Mobility and Samsung (the �ContentGuard Defendants�), which ContentGuard felt compelled to file after negotiations with ContentGuard
Defendants failed to yield negotiated license agreements. Until a court rules on ContentGuard�s claims against these companies, we anticipate
that potential licensees of our DRM assets may eschew serious license negotiations.

ContentGuard�s claims also elicited a series of IPR review petitions and CBM petitions by certain ContentGuard Defendants. Specifically, in
December 2014, Google filed CBM petitions against three of the nine patents that ContentGuard asserted in the litigation. Apple filed
twenty-nine IPR petitions and three CBM petitions challenging the validity of all nine asserted patents, including four patents that previously
withstood IPR challenges by ZTE. The United States Patent and Trademark Office will decide in the coming months whether to initiate review
proceedings on some or all of the IPR and CBM petitions. We are unable to predict whether or not proceedings will be initiated, or whether or
not such proceedings will impact the timing or outcome of the litigation.

Meanwhile, in 2014, our ContentGuard subsidiary launched Yovo®, our next-generation ephemeral photo and messaging application. Yovo®

facilitates ephemeral posts on social networking sites, as well as private messaging via text and email. Designed for integration with Facebook
and Twitter, Yovo® offers features such as forward lock, full encryption, screen capture scrambling and a self-destruct timer that allows a sender
to grant viewing rights for as little as one second and as long as 24 hours. Yovo® follows on the heels of the ContentGuard� mobile digital content
protection application for business users that was initially launched in December 2013 and updated in May 2014. These mobile applications,
based on technologies developed by ContentGuard over the past fifteen years, are designed to address consumer demand for enhanced Internet
privacy through solutions that restrict access to and limit the life of content. Our continuing development of these ephemeral content protection
solutions reflects our commitment to continued innovation, including the development of products to commercialize our IP rights.

We explored a number of business development opportunities during 2014. However, due to escalating valuations which we attribute to
inexpensive and widely available capital, we did not complete any transactions during the year. We expect this trend to continue and have
therefore slowed our exploratory activity and reduced our costs by eliminating certain positions, abandoning certain patent assets that do not
support our existing licensing programs, and lowering facilities costs. This does not mean that we have discontinued our assessment of
opportunities to commercialize unique technologies and related businesses or otherwise invest our capital in opportunities which may be
unrelated to our historical IP monetization activities, but until market conditions change, we expect to take a thoughtful and measured approach
to potential transactions. In the meantime, we will concentrate our efforts on generating revenue from our existing assets.
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In February 2013, we acquired a 68.75% interest in Provitro Biosciences LLC, the developer of the Provitro� proprietary micro-propagation
technology that is designed to facilitate the production on a commercial scale of certain plants, particularly timber bamboo. The activities of
Provitro from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2014 have been included in our consolidated statement of operations. The assets and
liabilities of Provitro were measured at fair value as of the acquisition date and included in our December 31, 2013 consolidated balance sheet.

In early 2015, we suspended further development of the Provitro� proprietary micro-propagation technology and related laboratory processes that
are designed to facilitate production on a commercial scale of certain plants, particularly timber bamboo. Although we continued to pursue
revenue generating business opportunities through the fourth quarter, we were unable to identify opportunities to justify continued
commercialization efforts. In the absence of opportunities, we determined that we should not sustain the cost structure required for continued
development of the technology. As a result, we began seeking a buyer for Provitro�s assets and took an impairment charge equal to our
unamortized investment in the Provitro� technology and related goodwill, reducing their fair values from approximately $11.0 million to zero at
December 31, 2014. In addition, in early 2015, we reached agreement with Provitro�s minority partner to cancel the ownership interest in
Provitro that we did not already own for nominal consideration, thereby leaving us with 100% ownership of Provitro.

2013 Events

In the first quarter of 2013, we acquired from Nokia Corporation 125 patents and patent applications worldwide, 81 of which have been declared
by Nokia to be essential to standards that are applicable to memory and storage technologies used in electronic devices. In connection with the
acquisition, we formed a wholly owned development company to continue innovation efforts in memory and storage technology begun by
Nokia. Our resulting memory and storage technologies program has thus far generated three licenses, and we remain in active negotiations with
other potential licensees.

2012 Events

During 2012, we completed our exit from the satellite business, which included (i) the receipt of the final payment associated with the sale of our
interests in DBSD North America, Inc. and our subsidiaries to DISH Network Corporation, (ii) the sale of our medium earth orbit (�MEO�)
satellite assets (�MEO Assets�) that had been in storage for nominal consideration, (iii) the transfer of our in-orbit MEO satellite (�F2�) to a new
operator who assumed responsibility for all F2 operating costs, (iv) the sale of our property in Brazil, and (v) the deconsolidation of our
MEO-related international subsidiaries (�International Subsidiaries�). Our exit from the satellite business generated approximately $2.4 billion in
net operating losses which we believe can be carried forward for up to twenty years.

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical accounting policies require difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of
matters that are inherently uncertain. Our estimates and judgments are based on information available at the time the estimates and judgments
are made. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. We make estimates and judgments when accounting for, among other
matters, business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets, revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, income taxes and contingencies,
as more fully described below.

Business Combinations. We account for business combinations using the acquisition method and, accordingly, the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are recorded at their acquisition date fair values. This valuation requires management to make significant estimates and
assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Valuation methodologies may include the cost, market or income approach. Critical
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estimates in valuing intangible assets include but are not limited to estimates about: future expected cash flows from customers, proprietary
technology, the acquired company�s brand awareness and market position and discount rates. Our estimates are based upon assumptions we
believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the purchase price over
the fair value of net assets, including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets. Subsequent changes to assets, liabilities, valuation
allowance or uncertain tax positions that relate to the acquired company and existed at the acquisition date that occur both within the
measurement period and as a result of new information about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date are recognized as an
adjustment to goodwill. Acquisition-related costs, including advisory, legal, accounting, valuation and other costs, are expensed in the periods in
which the costs are incurred. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
acquisition date.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill. We amortize finite-lived intangible assets, including patents, acquired in purchase transactions over their
expected useful lives. We assign goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets to our reporting units based on the expected benefit from the
synergies arising from each business combination.

We evaluate finite-lived intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be
recoverable. These events or circumstances could include: a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating performance
indicators, or changes in technology or customer requirements. Recoverability of an asset or asset group is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group over its life. This comparison
requires management to make judgments regarding estimated future cash flows. Our ability to realize the estimated future cash flows may be
affected by factors such as changes in operating performance, changes in business strategy, invalidation of patents, unfavorable judgments in
legal proceedings and changes in economic conditions. If our estimates of the undiscounted cash flows do not equal or exceed the carrying value
of the asset or asset group, we recognize an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the recorded value of the asset or asset group
exceeds its fair value.

We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of a reporting unit exceeds fair value. When evaluating goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment, we first perform a
qualitative assessment to determine if fair value of the reporting unit is more likely than not greater than the carrying amount. If this assessment
indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then we further evaluate the
estimated fair value of the reporting unit through the use of discounted cash flow models, which requires management to make significant
judgments as to the estimated future cash flows utilized. Our ability to realize the future cash flows utilized in the fair value calculations may be
affected by factors such as changes in operating performance, changes in business strategy, invalidation of patents, unfavorable judgments in
legal proceedings and changes in economic conditions. The results of the models are compared to the carrying amount of the reporting unit. If
such comparison indicates that the fair value of the reporting unit is lower than the carrying amount, impairment would exist and the impairment
charge would be measured by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit�s goodwill to its carrying value.

Revenue Recognition. We derive our operating revenue from IP monetization activities, including patent licensing and patent sales, and from IP
consulting services. Although our revenue may occur in different forms, we regard our IP monetization activities as integrated and not separate
revenue streams. For example, a third party relationship could involve consulting and licensing activities, or the acquisition of a patent portfolio
can lead to licensing, consulting and patent sales revenue.

Our patent licensing agreements often provide for the payment of contractually determined upfront license fees representing all or a majority of
the revenues that will be generated from such agreements for nonexclusive, nontransferable, limited duration licenses. These agreements
typically grant (i) a nonexclusive license to make, sell, distribute, and use certain specified products that read on our patents, (ii) a covenant not
to enforce patent rights against the licensee based on such activities, and (iii) the release of the licensee from certain claims.
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Certain of our patent licensing agreements provide for future royalties or future payment obligations triggered upon satisfaction of
conditions. Future royalties and future payments are recognized in revenue upon satisfaction of any related conditions, provided that all revenue
recognition criteria, as described below, have been met.

We sell patents from our portfolios from time to time. These sales are part of our ongoing operations. Consequently, the related proceeds are
recorded as revenue. We recognize the revenue when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred, (iii) amounts
are fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

Fees earned from IP consulting services are generally recognized as the services are performed.

The timing and amount of revenue recognized from IP monetization activities depend on the specific terms of each agreement and the nature of
the deliverables and obligations. For agreements that are deemed to contain multiple elements, consideration is allocated to each element of an
agreement that has stand-alone value using the relative fair value method. We recognize revenue when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, (ii) all material obligations have been substantially performed pursuant to agreement terms or services have been rendered to the
customer, (iii) amounts are fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured. As a result of the contractual terms of our patent
monetization agreements and the unpredictable nature, form and frequency of monetizing transactions, our revenue may fluctuate substantially
from period to period.

Stock-Based Compensation. We record stock-based compensation on stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock awards,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and other stock awards issued to employees, directors, consultants and/or advisors based on the
estimated fair value on the date of grant and recognize compensation cost over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. The fair
value of stock options and stock appreciation rights is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
(�Black-Scholes Model�) based on the single option award approach. The fair value of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units is
determined based on the number of shares granted and either the quoted market price of our Class A common stock on the date of grant for
time-based and performance-based awards, or the fair value on the date of grant using the Monte Carlo Simulation model (�Monte Carlo
Simulation�) for market-based awards. The fair value of stock options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units with service conditions
are amortized to expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. The fair
value of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units with performance conditions deemed probable
of being achieved and cliff vesting is amortized to expense over the requisite service period using the straight-line method of expense
recognition. The fair value of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units with performance and market conditions are amortized to expense
over the requisite service period using the straight-line method of expense recognition. The fair value of stock-based payment awards as
determined by the Black-Scholes Model and the Monte Carlo Simulation are affected by our stock price as well as other assumptions. These
assumptions include, but are not limited to, the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards and actual and projected employee
stock option exercise behaviors. Forfeitures are estimated at the date of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates.

Income Taxes. We must make certain estimates and judgments in determining income tax expense for financial statement purposes. These
estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of tax credits, tax benefits and deductions. Significant changes to these estimates may result in
an increase or decrease to our tax provision in a subsequent period.

We must assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets. If recovery is not likely, we must record a valuation
allowance against the deferred tax assets that we estimate will not ultimately be recoverable. Since our utilization of our deferred tax assets is
dependent upon future taxable income that is not assured, we have recorded a valuation allowance sufficient to reduce the deferred tax assets to
an amount that is
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more likely than not to be realized. However, should there be a change in our ability to recover our deferred tax assets, our tax provision would
decrease or may result in a tax benefit in the period in which we determined that the recovery was more likely than not to occur.

The application of income tax law is inherently complex. As such, we are required to make many assumptions and judgments regarding our
income tax positions and the likelihood whether such tax positions would be sustained if challenged. Interpretations and guidance surrounding
income tax laws and regulations change over time, and changes in our assumptions and judgments can materially affect amounts recognized in
our consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies. The outcomes of legal proceedings and claims brought by and against us are subject to significant uncertainty. We accrue an
estimated loss from a loss contingency, such as a legal claim against us, by a charge to income if it is probable that an asset has been impaired or
a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We disclose a contingency if there is at least a reasonable
possibility that a loss has been incurred. In determining whether a contingent loss should be accrued or disclosed, we evaluate, among other
factors, the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. Changes in
these factors could materially impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For contingencies that might result in a gain, we
do not record the gain until realized.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Accounting Standards Update (�ASU�) No. 2014-15, Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity�s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, which requires management to assess an entity�s ability to continue as a
going concern every reporting period including interim periods, and to provide related footnote disclosure in certain circumstances. Compliance
with this ASU is required for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU in 2014
did not have an impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718)-Accounting for Share-Based Payments When
the Terms of an Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period (a consensus of the FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force). ASU No. 2014-12 requires that a performance target that affects vesting and could be achieved after the requisite
service period shall be treated as a performance condition. Compliance with this ASU is required for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU in 2014 did not have a material impact on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue (Topic 606): Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which supersedes existing
revenue recognition guidance under GAAP. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize as revenue the amount that an entity expects to
be entitled for goods or services at the time the goods or services are transferred to customers. ASU 2014-09 defines a five step process to
achieve this core principle that will likely require more judgment and estimates within the revenue recognition process than are required under
existing GAAP. Compliance with this ASU is required for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods therein. Early
adoption is not permitted. We are currently assessing the impact, if any, of implementing this ASU.

Key Components of Results of Operations

Revenue�We derive our operating revenue from IP monetization activities, including patent licensing and patent sales, and from IP consulting
services, or a combination thereof. Although our revenue may occur in different forms, we regard our IP monetization activities as integrated
and not separate revenue streams. For example, a third party relationship could involve consulting and licensing activities, or the acquisition of a
patent
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portfolio could lead to licensing, consulting and patent sales revenue. Our revenues from IP monetization activities continue to depend in large
part on our ability to enter into new license agreements with third parties. Because our licensing agreements often provide for the payment of
upfront license fees rather than a royalty stream and as a result of the unpredictable nature, form and frequency of our transactions, our revenue
may fluctuate substantially from period to period.

Cost of revenue�Cost of revenue consists of certain costs that are variable in nature and are directly attributable to our revenue generating
activities including (i) payments to third parties to whom we have an obligation to share revenue, (ii) commissions, and (iii) success fees.
Additionally, in periods when patent sales occur, cost of revenue includes the net book value and other related costs associated with the sold
patents. Depending on the patents being monetized, revenue share payments as a percentage of revenues may vary significantly.

Patent administration and related costs�Patent administration and related costs are comprised of (i) patent-related maintenance and prosecution
costs incurred to maintain our patents, (ii) other costs that support our patent monetization efforts, and (iii) costs associated with the
abandonment of patents, including the write-off of any remaining net book value.

Patent litigation�Patent litigation costs consist of costs and expenses incurred in connection with our patent-related enforcement and litigation
activities. These may include non-contingent or contingent fee obligations to external counsel.

General and administrative�General and administrative expenses are primarily comprised of (i) personnel costs, (ii) general legal fees,
(iii) professional fees, (iv) acquisition investigation costs, and (v) general office related costs.

Stock-based compensation�Stock-based compensation expense includes expense associated with the granting of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and other stock awards issued to employees, directors, consultants and/or
advisors based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant and expensed over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest.

Amortization of intangible assets�Amortization of intangible assets reflects the expensing of the cost to acquire intangible assets which are
capitalized and amortized ratably over their estimated useful lives. Estimating the economic useful lives of our intangible assets depends on
various factors including the remaining statutory life of the underlying assets as well as their expected period of benefit.
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Results of Operations

The following table is provided to facilitate the discussion of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (in
thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Revenue $ 42,534 $ 13,128 $ 33,775
Cost of revenues 14,170 7,872 314
Patent administration and related costs 6,386 4,405 3,655
Patent litigation 9,880 4,564 2,538
General and administrative 27,467 25,939 29,844
Stock-based compensation 9,405 12,345 8,597
Amortization of intangibles 15,929 15,864 13,471
Impairment of finite-lived intangibles and goodwill 11,013 �  �  
Interest income 94 131 238
Interest expense 193 195 2,483
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries �  �  48,685
Gain on settlement of Boeing litigation �  �  10,000
Gain associated with disposition of assets �  �  5,599
Other income (expense) (16) (55) 1,588
Income tax benefit (expense) (6,303) �  1,034

Revenue. Our revenue of $42.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $29.4 million, or more than 200%, as compared to
$13.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase was primarily due to license agreements covering memory and storage
technologies entered into during the year ended December 31, 2014 and the absence of licensing revenue during the year ended December 31,
2013, partially offset by sales of certain patent portfolios in 2013.

Revenue of $13.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 decreased by $20.7 million, or 61%, as compared to $33.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease was primarily due to the absence of licensing revenue, partially offset by sales of certain patent
portfolios that were not part of existing licensing programs.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues of $14.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $6.3 million, or 80%, as compared to
$7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. This increase was primarily due to costs associated with our March 2014 license agreement
with Samsung, including payments to third parties to whom we have an obligation to share revenue, partially offset by $7.9 million of costs
related to certain patents sold in 2013.

Cost of revenues of $7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $7.6 million, as compared to $0.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. This increase was primarily due to $7.9 million of costs related to certain patents sold in 2013.

In future periods, cost of revenues as a percentage of revenue may vary significantly, depending upon related revenue share obligations arising
from licensing arrangements and the sales price realized compared to the net book value of patents sold.

Patent Administration and Related Costs. Patent administration and related costs of $6.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014
increased by $2.0 million, or 45%, as compared to $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in patent administration and
related costs was primarily due to write-offs of the net book value of patents abandoned in 2014, partially offset by a reduction in patent
maintenance and prosecution costs.
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Patent administration and related costs of $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $0.7 million, or 21%, as compared to
$3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase was due to patent maintenance and prosecution costs associated with the
patents acquired in 2013.

Patent Litigation. Patent litigation expenses of $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $5.3 million, or 116%, as
compared to $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in patent litigation expenses was primarily due to costs incurred
by our subsidiary, ContentGuard, in its litigation efforts against Amazon, Apple, Blackberry, DirecTV, Google, HTC, Huawei, Motorola
Mobility and Samsung.

Patent litigation expenses of $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $2.1 million, or 80%, as compared to $2.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in patent litigation expenses was primarily due to increased legal costs associated with the
preparation for ContentGuard�s litigation efforts that commenced in December 2013.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses of $27.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $1.6 million,
or 6%, as compared to $25.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase was primarily due to (i) $3.2 million lump-sum
severance payment to our CEO who departed in November 2014, (ii) $0.6 million increase in bonus expense, (iii) $0.6 million increase in
expenses associated with researching acquisition opportunities, and (iv) $0.6 million increase in professional fees and other expenses, partially
offset by (a) $1.5 million reduction in employment expenses resulting from a lower headcount, (b) $1.4 million reduction in amortized prepaid
compensation expense associated with the acquisition of the Ovidian Group LLC (�Ovidian�) in June 2011 (which was fully amortized as of June
2014), and (c) $0.5 million reduction in expenses associated with Provitro.

General and administrative expenses of $25.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 decreased $3.9 million, or 13%, as compared to
$29.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. The decrease was primarily due to (i) $2.3 million reduction in bonus expense, (ii) $2.2
million reduction in general legal expenses, primarily due to fees incurred in the Boeing litigation and J&J Group in 2012, (iii) $1.6 million
reduction in consulting and other professional fees, (iv) $1.2 million of withholding taxes associated with 2012 licensing revenues, and (iv) $0.3
million of costs incurred in 2012 by the International Subsidiaries partially offset by (a) $2.9 million related to operating expenses of Provitro
and (b) $0.7 million related to the addition of executives to the Pendrell team during 2013 and 2012.

Stock-based Compensation. Stock-based compensation of $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased by $2.9 million, or
24%, as compared to $12.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease in stock-based compensation expense was primarily
due to the vesting of awards in June 2013 for which no further expense is being incurred and the recapture of expense related to terminated
employees, partially offset by $2.8 million of additional stock based compensation expense associated with the accelerated vesting of stock
awards and the extension of the exercise period of vested options related to the November 2014 departure of our CEO.

Stock-based compensation of $12.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased $3.7 million, or 44%, as compared to $8.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase was due to $2.6 million related to the addition of executives to the Pendrell team and the
granting of stock options and restricted stock to employees during the last half of 2012 and $1.1 million of incremental expense due to the
August 2012 modification of restricted stock awards.

Amortization of Intangibles. Amortization of intangibles was $15.9 million for both the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, with an
increase in amortization due to the March 2013 acquisition of a portfolio of memory and storage technology patents offset by a reduction in
amortization associated with sales and abandonments of certain patents in 2014.
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Amortization of intangibles of $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $2.4 million, or 18%, as compared to $13.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2012, primarily due to the acquisition of intangible assets during 2012 and the first quarter of 2013.

Impairment of finite-lived intangibles and goodwill. During the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2014, we took an impairment
charge of approximately $11.0 million, which was equal to our unamortized investment in the Provitro� technology and related goodwill. The
impairment resulted from the inability to identify near-term opportunities to commercialize the technology.

Interest Income. Interest income for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was nominal and primarily related to interest earned on
money market funds.

Interest Expense. Interest expense of $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of interest expense resulting from
the installment payment obligations associated with intangible assets acquired during 2013. Interest expense of $2.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 consisted primarily of interest costs resulting from capital lease obligations associated with certain MEO gateway sites that
we operated prior to their deconsolidation as a result of the transfer of our International Subsidiaries to the Liquidating Trust on June 29, 2012.

Gain on Deconsolidation of Subsidiaries. During the year ended December 31, 2012, we transferred our International Subsidiaries to the
Liquidating Trust and recognized a gain of $48.7 million on deconsolidation as a result of eliminating $61.9 million of liabilities associated with
the International Subsidiaries, including liabilities for uncertain tax positions, net of cumulative translation adjustment losses of $12.7 million
related to the International Subsidiaries.

Gain on Settlement of Boeing Litigation. On June 25, 2012, we settled our litigation against Boeing in exchange for $10.0 million, which we
reflected as a gain on litigation settlement for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Gain Associated with Disposition of Assets. During the year ended December 31, 2012, we recognized a $5.6 million gain associated with the
disposition of real property and MEO satellite related gateway equipment we owned in Brazil.

Other Income (Expense). Other expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was due to losses on foreign currency transactions.
Other income of $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily due to the release of a $0.8 million liability associated with
our prior ownership of MEO satellite assets and gains on foreign currency transactions.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense. We did not have a U.S. federal income tax liability for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 or 2012.
However, we recorded a tax provision of $6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 related to foreign taxes withheld on revenue
generated from a license agreement executed with a licensee domiciled in a foreign jurisdiction. In general, foreign taxes withheld may be
claimed as a deduction on future U.S. corporate income tax returns, or as a credit against future U.S. federal income tax liabilities, subject to
certain limitations. However, due to uncertainty regarding our ability to utilize the deduction or credit resulting from the foreign withholding, at
December 31, 2014, we established a full valuation allowance against this deferred tax asset.

The income tax benefit of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily due to expiration of the statute of limitations
associated with previously recorded uncertain tax positions, including interest and penalties.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview. As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cash equivalents of $168.8 million. Our primary expected cash needs for the next twelve
months include ongoing operating costs associated with commercialization of our IP assets, product development costs, expenses in connection
with legal proceedings, and other general corporate purposes. We also expect to use our cash, and may incur debt or issue equity, to acquire or
invest in other businesses or assets.

We believe our current balances of cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from operations will be adequate to meet our liquidity needs for the
foreseeable future. Cash and cash equivalents in excess of our immediate needs are held in interest bearing accounts with financial institutions.

Cash Flows. Cash and cash equivalents were $168.8 million at December 31, 2014, compared to $184.6 million at December 31, 2013. The
following table is provided to facilitate the discussion of our liquidity and capital resources for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in
thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013

Net cash used in:
Operating activities $ (13,309) $ (15,151) 
Investing activities (119) (11,560) 
Financing activities (2,346) (2,475) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15,774) (29,186) 
Cash and cash equivalents�beginning of period 184,567 213,753

Cash and cash equivalents�end of period $ 168,793 $ 184,567

The decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the year ended December 31, 2014 of $15.8 million was primarily due to $56.3 million of general
corporate expenditures and a $2.0 million payment of an accrued obligation associated with the 2013 acquisition of our memory and storage
technologies portfolio partially offset by revenue generated by operations of $42.5 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the $13.3 million of cash used in operating activities consisted of our net loss of $58.1 million adjusted
for various non-cash items, including (i) $11.0 million of impairment charge for finite-lived intangible assets and goodwill associated with
Provitro (ii) $15.9 million of amortization expense associated with patents and other intangible assets, (iii) $9.4 million of stock-based
compensation expense, (iv) $3.6 million of non-cash loss associated with the abandonment and/or sale of patents, (v) $1.4 million of amortized
prepaid compensation expense associated with the Ovidian acquisition, (vi) $1.5 million increase in accrued expenses, primarily related to bonus
accrual, (vii) $1.2 million decrease in receivables and prepaid expenses and (viii) $0.8 million of depreciation and other noncash expenses.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the $15.2 million of cash used in operating activities consisted primarily of our net loss of $58.0 million
adjusted for various non-cash items, including (i) $15.9 million of amortization expense associated with patents and other intangibles, (ii) $12.3
million of stock-based compensation expense, and (iii) $2.8 million of amortized prepaid compensation expense associated with our acquisition
of Ovidian in June 2011, partially offset by $8.9 million of cash collected from various receivables and a $2.6 million increase in accrued
expenses.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the $0.1 million of cash used in investing activities was primarily due to the acquisition of property and
intangible assets. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the $11.6 million of cash used in investing activities was primarily due to $9.2 million
for our acquisition of Provitro and $2.4 million for the acquisition of property and intangible assets.
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For the year ended December 31, 2014, the $2.3 million of cash used in financing activities consisted of a $2.0 million payment of an accrued
obligation associated with the 2013 purchase of property and intangible assets and $0.8 million utilized to pay statutory taxes related to vesting
of restricted stock awards, offset by $0.4 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the
$2.5 million of cash used in financing activities consisted of $2.7 million utilized to pay statutory taxes related to vesting of restricted stock
awards, partially offset by $0.2 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Contractual Obligations. Our primary contractual obligations relate to installment purchases of property and intangible assets as well as
operating lease agreements for our main office location in Kirkland, Washington, and other offices in California, Texas and Finland. Our
contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014 were as follows (in millions):

Years ending December 31,

Total 2015 2016-2017 2018-2019
2020 and
Thereafter

Purchase obligations $ 4.0 $ 4.0 $ �  $ �  $ �  
Operating lease obligations 2.4 0.6 1.2 0.6 �  

Total $ 6.4 $ 4.6 $ 1.2 $ 0.6 $ �  

Inflation

The impact of inflation on our consolidated financial condition and results of operations was not significant during any of the years presented.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We have assessed our vulnerability to certain market risks, including interest rate risk associated with our accounts receivable, accounts payable,
other liabilities, and cash and cash equivalents and foreign currency risk associated with our cash held in foreign currencies.

As of December 31, 2014, our cash and investment portfolio consisted of both cash and money market funds, with a fair value of $168.8 million.
The primary objective of our investments in money market funds is to preserve principal, while optimizing returns and minimizing risk, and our
policies require, at the time of purchase, that we make these investments in short-term, high rated securities which currently yield between zero
to 15 basis points.

December 31,
2014

Cash $ 18,403
Money market funds 150,390

$ 168,793

Our primary foreign currency exposure relates to cash balances in foreign currencies. Due to the small balances we hold, we have determined
that the risk associated with foreign currency fluctuations is not material to us.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders

Pendrell Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Pendrell Corporation (a Washington corporation) and subsidiaries (the
�Company�) as of December 31, 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows, and
changes in shareholders� equity for the year ended December 31, 2014. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pendrell
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2014 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company�s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control�Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report, dated March 6, 2015,
expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Seattle, Washington

March 6, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Pendrell Corporation

Kirkland, Washington

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Pendrell Corporation and subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of December 31,
2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows, and changes in shareholders� equity for
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2013. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pendrell Corporation and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Seattle, Washington

March 10, 2014
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Pendrell Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 168,793 $ 184,567
Accounts receivable 131 402
Other receivables�net of reserve $2,750 in both periods 69 38
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 774 1,722

Total current assets 169,767 186,729
Property in service�net of accumulated depreciation of $1,227 and $722, respectively 3,372 3,778
Other assets 54 75
Intangible assets�net of accumulated amortization of $43,567 and $31,272, respectively 109,702 139,687
Goodwill 21,209 21,725

Total $ 304,104 $ 351,994

LIABILITIES, SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY AND

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 281 $ 166
Accrued expenses 5,824 5,671
Other liabilities 6,891 2,669

Total current liabilities 12,996 8,506
Deferred tax liability 1,521 1,488
Other non-current liabilities �  5,207

Total liabilities 14,517 15,201

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)

Shareholders� equity and noncontrolling interests:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 75,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding �  �  
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 900,000,000 shares authorized 270,745,381 and 270,220,116
shares issued, and 212,976,489 and 212,451,224 shares outstanding 2,132 2,126
Class B convertible common stock, $0.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized, 84,663,382 shares
issued and 53,660,000 shares outstanding 537 537
Additional paid-in capital 1,952,880 1,941,818
Accumulated deficit (1,671,135) (1,619,993) 

Total Pendrell shareholders� equity 284,414 324,488

Noncontrolling interests 5,173 12,305

Total shareholders� equity and noncontrolling interests 289,587 336,793
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Total $ 304,104 $ 351,994

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Pendrell Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Revenue $ 42,534 $ 13,128 $ 33,775
Operating expenses:
Cost of revenues 14,170 7,872 314
Patent administration and related costs 6,386 4,405 3,655
Patent litigation 9,880 4,564 2,538
General and administrative 27,467 25,939 29,844
Stock-based compensation 9,405 12,345 8,597
Amortization of intangibles 15,929 15,864 13,471
Impairment of finite-lived intangibles and goodwill 11,013 �  �  

Total operating expenses 94,250 70,989 58,419

Operating loss (51,716) (57,861) (24,644) 
Interest income 94 131 238
Interest expense (193) (195) (2,483) 
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries �  �  48,685
Gain on settlement of Boeing litigation �  �  10,000
Gain associated with disposition of assets �  �  5,599
Other income (expense) (16) (55) 1,588

Income (loss) before income taxes (51,831) (57,980) 38,983
Income tax benefit (expense) (6,303) �  1,034

Net income (loss) (58,134) (57,980) 40,017
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (7,132) (2,918) (67) 

Net income (loss) attributable to Pendrell $ (51,002) $ (55,062) $ 40,084

Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Pendrell $ (0.19) $ (0.21) $ 0.16

Diluted income (loss) per share attributable to Pendrell $ (0.19) $ (0.21) $ 0.15

Weighted average shares outstanding used to compute basic income
(loss) per share 264,407,498 262,119,403 256,955,003
Weighted average shares outstanding used to compute diluted income
(loss) per share 264,407,498 262,119,403 263,824,279

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

32

Edgar Filing: Pendrell Corp - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 37



Table of Contents

Pendrell Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In thousands)

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Net income (loss) $ (58,134) $ (57,980) $ 40,017
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Cumulative translation adjustments �  �  (1,019) 
Reclassification of cumulative translation adjustment loss included in net income �  �  12,679

Comprehensive income (loss) (58,134) (57,980) 51,677
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 7,132 2,918 67

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Pendrell $ (51,002) $ (55,062) $ 51,744

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

33

Edgar Filing: Pendrell Corp - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 38



Table of Contents

Pendrell Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders� Equity

(In thousands, except share data)

Common stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Treasury
stock

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income
(loss)

Accumulated
deficit

Shareholder�s
Equity

Noncontrolling
interests Total

Class A
shares

Class B
shares Amount

Balance, January 1,
2012 206,696,021 53,660,000 $ 3,497 $ 2,794,970 $ (877,833) $ (11,660) $ (1,603,941) $ 305,033 $ 7,745 $ 312,778
Vesting of Class A
common stock issued
for Ovidian
Acquisition �  �  �  2,618 �  �  �  2,618 �  2,618
Issuance of Class A
common stock from
exercise of stock
options 3,769,985 �  38 742 �  �  �  780 �  780
Class A common
stock withheld at
vesting to cover
statutory tax
obligations (88,056) �  (1) �  (219) �  �  (220) �  (220) 
Stock-based
compensation and
issuance of restricted
stock, net of
forfeitures 1,104,124 �  11 8,210 6 �  �  8,227 �  8,227
Reclassification due to
reincorporation �  �  (890) (877,014) 878,046 �  (142) �  �  �  
Shares held by
Liquidating Trust 200,000 �  �  �  �  �  �  �  �  �  
Other comprehensive
income �  �  �  �  �  11,660 �  11,660 �  11,660
Net income (loss) �  �  �  �  �  �  40,084 40,084 (67) 40,017

Balance,
December 31, 2012 211,682,074 53,660,000 $ 2,655 $ 1,929,526 $ �  $ �  $ (1,563,999) $ 368,182 $ 7,678 $ 375,860
Vesting of Class A
common stock issued
for Ovidian
acquisition �  �  �  1,743 �  �  �  1,743 �  1,743
Issuance of Class A
common stock from
exercise of stock
options and warrants 165,312 �  2 184 �  �  �  186 �  186
Class A common
stock withheld at
vesting to cover
statutory tax
obligations (567,728) �  (6) (1,722) �  �  (932) (2,660) �  (2,660) 
Stock-based
compensation and
issuance of restricted
stock, net of
forfeitures 1,171,566 �  12 12,087 �  �  �  12,099 �  12,099
Noncontrolling
interest in Provitro �  �  �  �  �  �  �  �  7,545 7,545
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Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (55,062) (55,062) (2,918) (57,980) 

Balance,
December 31, 2013 212,451,224 53,660,000 $ 2,663 $ 1,941,818 $ �  $ �  $ (1,619,993) $ 324,488 $ 12,305 $ 336,793
Vesting of Class A
common stock issued
for Ovidian
acquisition �  �  �  2,229 �  �  �  2,229 �  2,229
Issuance of Class A
common stock from
exercise of stock
options 514,938 �  5 424 �  �  �  429 �  429
Class A common
stock withheld at
vesting to cover
statutory tax
obligations (161,823) �  (2) (633) �  �  (140) (775) �  (775) 
Stock-based
compensation and
issuance of restricted
stock, net of
forfeitures 172,150 �  3 9,042 �  �  �  9,045 �  9,045
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (51,002) (51,002) (7,132) (58,134) 

Balance,
December 31, 2014 212,976,489 53,660,000 $ 2,669 $ 1,952,880 $ �  $ �  $ (1,671,135) $ 284,414 $ 5,173 $ 289,587

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Pendrell Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands, except share data)

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Operating activities:
Net income (loss) including noncontrolling interest $ (58,134) $ (57,980) $ 40,017
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 9,405 12,345 8,597
Amortization of prepaid compensation from Ovidian acquisition 1,380 2,763 2,993
Amortization of intangibles 15,929 15,864 13,471
Impairment of finite-lived intangibles and goodwill 11,013 �  �  
Depreciation 523 472 213
Unrealized foreign exchange (gains) losses 1 6 (446) 
Non-cash cost of patents monetized 794 252 �  
Loss associated with the abandonment and/or disposition of patents 2,765 46 �  
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries �  �  (48,685) 
Gain associated with disposition of assets �  �  (5,599) 
Other 221 192 �  
Other changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 271 8,128 (7,925) 
Other receivables (31) 818 (91) 
Prepaid expenses and other current/non-current assets 969 (239) 408
Accounts payable 115 (409) 32
Accrued interest payable �  �  1,704
Accrued expenses and other current/non-current liabilities 1,470 2,591 (8,722) 

Net cash used in operating activities (13,309) (15,151) (4,033) 

Investing activities:
Purchases of property and intangible assets (119) (2,356) (29,513) 
Proceeds associated with disposition of assets �  �  15,647
Acquisition of controlling interest in Provitro, net of cash acquired �  (9,204) �  

Net cash used in investing activities (119) (11,560) (13,866) 

Financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 429 185 780
Payment of statutory taxes for stock awards (775) (2,660) (220) 
Payment of accrued obligations for purchased intangible assets (2,000) �  �  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,346) (2,475) 560

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash �  �  715

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15,774) (29,186) (16,624) 
Cash and cash equivalents�beginning of period 184,567 213,753 230,377

Cash and cash equivalents�end of period $ 168,793 $ 184,567 $ 213,753

Supplemental disclosures:
Income taxes paid $ 6,272 $ �  $ 2,156
Income taxes received �  751 �  
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Accrued obligations for purchases of property and intangible assets �  5,573 �  
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Pendrell Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Business

Overview�These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pendrell Corporation (�Pendrell�) and its consolidated subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the �Company�). Since 2011, the Company�s strategy, through its consolidated subsidiaries, has been to invest in,
acquire and develop businesses with unique technologies that are often protected by intellectual property (�IP�) rights, and that present the
opportunity to address large, global markets. The Company�s subsidiaries focus on licensing the IP rights they hold to third parties and pursuing
relevant product opportunities. The Company regularly evaluates its existing investments to determine whether retention or disposition is
appropriate, and investigates new investment and business acquisition opportunities. The Company also advises its clients on various IP
strategies and transactions.

Pendrell was originally incorporated in 2000 as a Delaware corporation. On November 14, 2012, the Company reincorporated from Delaware to
Washington. The reincorporation merely changed the Company�s legal domicile. The Company�s consolidated financial condition and results of
operations immediately after consummation of the reincorporation were the same as those immediately prior to the reincorporation.

The Company was formed in 2000 to operate a next generation global mobile satellite communications system. The Company began its exit
from the satellite business in 2011 with the sale of its interests in DBSD North America, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
�DBSD�) to DISH Network Corporation (�DISH Network�). During 2012, the Company completed its exit with (i) the sale of its medium earth orbit
(�MEO�) satellite assets (�MEO Assets�) that had been in storage for nominal consideration, (ii) the transfer of its in-orbit MEO satellite (�F2�) to a
new operator who assumed responsibility for all F2 operating costs effective April 1, 2012 and (iii) the deconsolidation of its MEO-related
international subsidiaries (�International Subsidiaries�).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation�The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the assets and liabilities
of its wholly-owned subsidiaries and subsidiaries it controls or in which it has a controlling financial interest. Noncontrolling interests on the
consolidated balance sheets include third-party investments in entities that the Company consolidates, but does not wholly own. Noncontrolling
interests are classified as part of equity and the Company allocates net income (loss), other comprehensive income (loss) and other equity
transactions to its noncontrolling interests in accordance with their applicable ownership percentages. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation. All information in these financial statements is in U.S. dollars. These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (�GAAP�).

Segment Information�The Company operates in and reports on one segment (IP management). Operating segments are based upon the
Company�s internal organization structure, the manner in which its operations are managed, and the criteria used by its Chief Operating Decision
Maker. Substantially all of the Company�s revenue are generated by operations located within the United States, and the Company does not have
any long-lived assets located in foreign countries.

Use of Estimates�The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including among others, those related to the fair value of acquired intangible assets
and goodwill, the useful lives and potential impairment of intangible assets
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and property and equipment, the value of stock awards for the purpose of determining stock-based compensation expense, accrued liabilities
(including bonus accruals), valuation allowances related to the ability to realize deferred tax assets, allowances for doubtful receivables and
certain tax liabilities. Estimates are based on historical experience and other factors, including the current economic environment as deemed
appropriate under the circumstances. Estimates and assumptions are adjusted when facts and circumstances dictate. As future events and their
effects cannot be determined with precision, actual results could differ significantly from these estimates. Any changes in estimates used to
prepare these financial statements will be reflected in the financial statements in future periods.

Reclassifications�Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. The reclassifications had no
effect on previously reported net loss of the Company or the noncontrolling interest holder. Such reclassifications relate to the Company�s
presentation of expenses in its consolidated statements of operations, including the presentation of �cost of revenues� and �patent litigation� as
separate captions; as such costs were previously included in �patent administration, litigation and related costs� and �general and administrative.�
The following is a summary of the revised expense categories:

Cost of revenue�Cost of revenue consists of certain costs that are variable in nature and are directly attributable to the Company�s revenue
generating activities including (i) payments to third parties to whom the Company has an obligation to share revenue, (ii) commissions, and
(iii) success fees. Additionally, in periods when patent sales occur, cost of revenue includes the net book value and other related costs associated
with the sold patents. Depending on the patents being monetized, revenue share payments as a percentage of revenues may vary significantly.

Patent administration and related costs�Patent administration and related costs are comprised of (i) patent-related maintenance and prosecution
costs incurred to maintain the Company�s patents, (ii) other costs that support its patent monetization efforts, and (iii) costs associated with the
abandonment of patents, including the write-off of any remaining net book value.

Patent litigation�Patent litigation costs consist of costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Company�s patent-related enforcement and
litigation activities. These may include non-contingent or contingent fee obligations to external counsel.

General and administrative�General and administrative expenses are primarily comprised of (i) personnel costs, (ii) general legal fees,
(iii) professional fees, (iv) acquisition investigation costs, and (v) general office related costs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents�Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities from the
date of purchase of 90 days or less. Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2014 2013

Cash $ 18,403 $ 18,043
Money market funds 150,390 166,524

$ 168,793 $ 184,567

The fair value of money market funds at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was classified as Level 1 in the hierarchy established by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) as amounts were based on quoted prices available in active markets for identical investments as of the
reporting date.

Accounts Receivable�Accounts receivable consists of amounts billed to customers under licensing arrangements, patent sales arrangements or
consulting services. The majority of the Company�s customers are well-established operating companies with investment-grade credit. For the
periods ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company did not incur any losses on its accounts receivable. Based upon
historical
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collections experience and specific client information, the Company has determined that an allowance for doubtful accounts was not required at
either December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013. Carrying amounts of such receivables approximate their fair value due to their short-term
nature.

Other Receivables�As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 the Company recorded a receivable due from Jay & Jayendra (Pty) Ltd, a South African
corporation or its designated affiliate (collectively, the �J&J Group�) for reimbursement of operating expenses related to the Company�s MEO
Assets of $2.7 million and a corresponding full reserve against the receivable as a result of the J&J Group�s failure to fulfill its obligation to
reimburse the Company. The Company has obtained an enforcement judgment in South Africa (where J&J Group is domiciled), but due to the
uncertainty of collection, the Company continues to maintain a full reserve against the receivable. Other receivables also include amounts for
state income taxes, interest and other miscellaneous items.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets�As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted primarily
of insurance prepayments and prepayments related to rent and security deposits associated with certain of the Company�s leased facilities.

Property in Service�Property in service consists primarily of computer equipment, software, furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements.
Property in service is recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation, and is depreciated using the straight-line method. Computer equipment
and furniture and fixtures are depreciated over their estimated useful lives ranging from three to five years. Software is depreciated over the
shorter of its contractual license period or three years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or
the term of the respective lease. Significant additions and improvements to property in service are capitalized. Repair and maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred.

Other Assets�As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, other assets consisted primarily of long-term security deposits associated with the Company�s
leased facilities.

Business Combinations�The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method and, accordingly, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their acquisition date fair values. This valuation requires management to make significant
estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Valuation methodologies may include the cost, market or income
approach. Critical estimates in valuing intangible assets include but are not limited to estimates about: future expected cash flows from
customers, proprietary technology, the acquired company�s brand awareness and market position and discount rates. The estimates are based
upon assumptions the Company believes to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Goodwill is calculated as the
excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets, including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets. Subsequent changes
to assets, liabilities, valuation allowance or uncertain tax positions that relate to the acquired company and existed at the acquisition date that
occur both within the measurement period and as a result of new information about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date
are recognized as an adjustment to goodwill. Acquisition-related costs, including advisory, legal, accounting, valuation and other costs, are
expensed in the periods in which the costs are incurred. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the acquisition date.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill� The Company amortizes finite-lived intangible assets, including patents, acquired in purchase transactions
over their expected useful lives. The Company assigns goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets to its reporting units based on the expected
benefit from the synergies arising from each business combination.

The Company evaluates finite-lived intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group
may not be recoverable. These events or circumstances could include: a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating
performance indicators, or changes in technology or customer requirements. Recoverability of an asset or asset group is measured by a
comparison of
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the carrying amount to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group over its life. This comparison
requires management to make judgments regarding estimated future cash flows. The Company�s ability to realize the estimated future cash flows
may be affected by factors such as changes in operating performance, changes in business strategy, invalidation of patents, unfavorable
judgments in legal proceedings and changes in economic conditions. If the Company�s estimates of the undiscounted cash flows do not equal or
exceed the carrying value of the asset or asset group, an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the recorded value of the asset or asset
group exceeds its fair value is recognized.

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of a Company reporting unit exceeds fair value. When evaluating goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment, the Company first performs a qualitative assessment to determine if fair value of the reporting unit is more likely than not greater
than the carrying amount. If this assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, then the Company further evaluates the estimated fair value of the reporting unit through the use of discounted cash flow models, which
requires management to make significant judgments as to the estimated future cash flows utilized. The Company�s ability to realize the future
cash flows utilized in its fair value calculations may be affected by factors such as changes in its operating performance, changes in its business
strategy, invalidation of its patents, unfavorable judgments in legal proceedings and changes in economic conditions. The results of the models
are compared to the carrying amount of the reporting unit. If such comparison indicates that the fair value of the reporting unit is lower than the
carrying amount, impairment would exist and the impairment charge would be measured by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting
unit�s goodwill to its carrying value.

In January 2015, the Company suspended further development of its proprietary micro-propagation technology and related laboratory processes
that are designed to facilitate production on a commercial scale of certain plants, particularly timber bamboo. Although the Company continued
to pursue revenue generating business opportunities through the fourth quarter, it was unable to identify opportunities to commercialize the
technology. The Company determined that the suspension of technology development provided additional evidence about conditions that existed
prior to December 31, 2014. Accordingly, the Company took an $11.0 million impairment charge during the fourth quarter of its year ended
December 31, 2014. The charge is equal to the sum of its unamortized investment in its developed Provitro� technology and the goodwill
associated with its February 21, 2013 acquisition of Provitro Biosciences LLC (�Provitro�).

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded no such impairment charges.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments�The Company determines the fair value of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy
established by the FASB. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

Level 1�Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2�Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities or other inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3�Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities. This
includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company�s financial instruments included its cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other
receivables, accounts payable and certain other assets and liabilities. The Company determines the carrying value of its financial instruments,
based on the hierarchy established by the FASB, approximate the fair value of the financial instruments as they are equivalent to cash or due to
their short-term nature.
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Foreign Currency Translation and Foreign Currency Transactions and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)�The reporting
currency for the Company�s operations is U.S. dollars. The Company translates the activities of its subsidiaries with functional currencies other
than the U.S. dollar at the average exchange rate prevailing during the period. Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are recognized
as a component of other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which they occur. Assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Translation adjustments resulting
from these processes are recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

For the years ended, December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no gains or losses on intercompany foreign currency translations. For the year
ended December 31, 2012, gains on intercompany foreign currency translations of $0.1 million have been excluded from net income (loss) and
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) due to their long-term investment nature.

The Company recognizes applicable cumulative translation adjustments as a component of other operating income (loss) in the period in which a
subsidiary is substantially liquidated or deconsolidated. For the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no reclassifications of
cumulative translation gains or losses resulting from the deconsolidation or liquidation of subsidiaries. For the year ended December 31, 2012,
the Company reclassed net loss of $12.7 resulting from the deconsolidation of its International Subsidiaries.

The Company had no accumulated other comprehensive income or (loss) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 due to the deconsolidation of the
Company�s International Subsidiaries effective June 29, 2012.

Revenue Recognition� The Company derives its operating revenue from IP monetization activities, including patent licensing and patent sales,
and from IP consulting services. Although the Company�s revenue may occur in different forms, it regards its IP monetization activities as
integrated and not separate revenue streams. For example, a third party relationship could involve consulting and licensing activities, or the
acquisition of a patent portfolio can lead to licensing, consulting and patent sales revenue.

The Company�s patent licensing agreements often provide for the payment of contractually determined upfront license fees representing all or a
majority of the revenue that will be generated from such agreements for nonexclusive, nontransferable, limited duration licenses. These
agreements typically grant (i) a nonexclusive license to make, sell, distribute, and use certain specified products that read on the Company�s
patents, (ii) a covenant not to enforce patent rights against the licensee based on such activities, and (iii) the release of the licensee from certain
claims.

Certain of the Company�s patent licensing agreements provide for future royalties or future payment obligations triggered upon satisfaction of
conditions. Future royalties and future payments are recognized in revenue upon satisfaction of any related conditions, provided that all revenue
recognition criteria, as described below, have been met.

The Company sells patents from its portfolios from time to time. These sales are part of the Company�s ongoing operations. Consequently, the
related proceeds are recorded as revenue.

The timing and amount of revenue recognized from IP monetization activities depend on the specific terms of each agreement and the nature of
the deliverables and obligations. Fees earned from IP consulting services are generally recognized as the services are performed. For agreements
that are deemed to contain multiple elements, consideration is allocated to each element of an agreement that has stand-alone value using the
relative fair value method. The Company recognizes revenue when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) all material obligations
have been substantially performed pursuant to agreement terms, services have been rendered to the customer or delivery has occurred,
(iii) amounts are fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured. As a result of the contractual terms of our patent
monetization agreements and the unpredictable nature, form and frequency of monetizing transactions, our revenue may fluctuate substantially
from period to period.
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Research and Development�The Company incurs costs associated with research and development activities and expenses the costs in the period
incurred. Research and development expenses during the period were not material for separate disclosure and are included in general and
administrative expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation�The Company records stock-based compensation on stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock units and other stock awards issued to employees, directors, consultants and/or advisors based on the estimated fair
value on the date of grant and recognizes compensation cost over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. The fair value of stock
options and stock appreciation rights is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (�Black-Scholes Model�)
based on the single option award approach. The fair value of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units is determined based on the number
of shares granted and either the quoted market price of the Company�s Class A common stock on the date of grant for time-based and
performance-based awards, or the fair value on the date of grant using the Monte Carlo Simulation model (�Monte Carlo Simulation�) for
market-based awards. The fair value of stock options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units with service conditions are amortized to
expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. The fair value of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units with performance conditions deemed probable of being
achieved and cliff vesting is amortized to expense over the requisite service period using the straight-line method of expense recognition. The
fair value of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units with performance and market conditions are amortized to expense over the
requisite service period using the straight-line method of expense recognition. The fair value of stock-based payment awards as determined by
the Black-Scholes Model and the Monte Carlo Simulation are affected by the Company�s stock price as well as other assumptions. These
assumptions include, but are not limited to, the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards and actual and projected employee
stock option exercise behaviors. Forfeitures are estimated at the date of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates.

The Company accounts for the modification of the terms or conditions of a stock-based payment award as an exchange of the original award for
a new award. Compensation expense for modified stock-based payment awards is equal to the fair value of the original award plus the
incremental cost conveyed as a result of the modification expensed over the remaining life of the award.

Income Taxes�The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance against deferred tax assets (�DTAs�) is recorded when
it is more likely than not that the assets will not be realized.

The Company records an unrecognized tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be
sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. The Company�s policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits as income tax expense.

Contingencies�Outcomes of legal proceedings and claims brought by and against the Company are subject to significant uncertainty. The
Company accrues an estimated loss from a loss contingency, such as a legal claim, by a charge to income if it is probable that an asset has been
impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company discloses a contingency if there
is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss has been incurred. In determining whether a contingent loss should be accrued or disclosed, the
Company evaluates, among other factors, the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of
the amount of loss. Changes in these factors could materially impact the Company�s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For
contingencies that might result in a gain, the Company does not record the gain until realized.
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Income (Loss) Per Share�Basic income (loss) per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of Class A common stock and Class
B common stock (the �Common Shares�) outstanding during the period. Diluted income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the income (loss)
allocable to common shareholders by the weighted average Common Shares outstanding plus dilutive potential Common Shares. Prior to the
satisfaction of vesting conditions, unvested restricted stock awards are considered contingently issuable and are excluded from weighted average
Common Shares outstanding used for computation of basic income (loss) per share.

Potential dilutive Common Shares consist of the incremental Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options
(both vested and non-vested), stock appreciation rights, warrants, and unvested restricted stock awards and units, calculated using the treasury
stock method. The calculation of dilutive shares outstanding excludes out-of-the-money stock options (i.e., such options� exercise prices were
greater than the average market price of the Company�s Class A common shares for the period) because their inclusion would have been
antidilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income (loss) per share (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Net income (loss) attributable to Pendrell $ (51,002) $ (55,062) $ 40,084

Weighted average common shares outstanding 266,336,617 265,684,341 261,335,347
Less: weighted average unvested restricted stock
awards (1,929,119) (3,564,938) (4,380,344) 

Shares used for computation of basic income (loss) per
share 264,407,498 262,119,403 256,955,003
Add back: weighted average unvested restricted stock
awards and units �  �  4,977,877
Add back: dilutive stock options and stock appreciation
rights �  �  1,891,399

Shares used for computation of diluted income (loss)
per share(1) 264,407,498 262,119,403 263,824,279

Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Pendrell $ (0.19) $ (0.21) $ 0.16

Diluted income (loss) per share attributable to Pendrell $ (0.19) $ (0.21) $ 0.15

(1) Stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and units totaling 28,113,540, 34,408,579 and 26,593,976 for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of diluted income (loss) per share as their
inclusion was anti-dilutive.

New Accounting Pronouncements�In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Accounting Standards Update
(�ASU�) No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity�s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, which requires management to
assess an entity�s ability to continue as a going concern every reporting period including interim periods, and to provide related footnote
disclosure in certain circumstances. Compliance with this ASU is required for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early
adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU in 2014 did not have an impact on the Company�s financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718)�Accounting for Share-Based Payments
When the Terms of an Award Provide That a Performance Target Could
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Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force). ASU No. 2014-12 requires that a
performance target that affects vesting and could be achieved after the requisite service period shall be treated as a performance condition.
Compliance with this ASU is required for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this
ASU in 2014 did not have a material impact on the Company�s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue (Topic 606): Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which supersedes existing
revenue recognition guidance under GAAP. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize as revenue the amount that an entity expects to
be entitled for goods or services at the time the goods or services are transferred to customers. ASU 2014-09 defines a five step process to
achieve this core principle that will likely require more judgment and estimates within the revenue recognition process than are required under
existing GAAP. Compliance with this ASU is required for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods therein. Early
adoption is not permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, of implementing this ASU.

3. Business Combinations

On February 21, 2013, the Company acquired a 68.75% interest in Provitro. Accordingly, the activities of Provitro from the acquisition date
though December 31, 2014 have been included in the Company�s consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013. Acquisition-related costs, including advisory, legal, accounting, valuation and other costs associated with the acquisition of Provitro
of $0.4 million, are included in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the $16.6 million cash paid for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of the
Provitro acquisition on February 21, 2013 (in thousands):

Tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Cash $ 7,396
Other current and noncurrent assets, net of liabilities 430
Property in service 2,950

Net tangible assets acquired 10,776
Identifiable intangible assets (developed technology) 12,853
Goodwill 516

Fair value of assets acquired 24,145
Fair value of 31.25% noncontrolling interest (7,545) 

Total purchase price $ 16,600

These allocations were based on fair value estimates as of the closing date of the acquisition and are included in the Company�s consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2013. The Company used the cost approach to value the $12.9 million of definite-lived intangible assets related to
the developed Provitro� technology.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, Provitro incurred $2.4 million and $2.9 million, respectively, of operating expenses which
have been included in general and administrative expenses.

From acquisition through year-end 2014, the Company had been developing its strategy to commercialize the Provitro� technology, but had yet to
generate revenue associated with the technology. In January 2015, the Company suspended further development of the Provitro� technology due
to the Company�s inability to identify near-term opportunities for commercialization. Accordingly, the Company took an $11.0 million
impairment charge during the fourth quarter of its year ended December 31, 2014. The impairment charge is equal to the sum of its unamortized
investment in its developed Provitro� technology and the goodwill associated with its acquisition of Provitro.
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4. Disposition of Satellite Assets

During the first quarter of 2012, the Company sold the real property it held for use in its satellite business in Brazil for approximately $5.6
million and sold the remainder of its MEO Assets. On June 29, 2012, the Company transferred its International Subsidiaries to the Liquidating
Trust. All of the property in Brazil, the MEO Assets and substantially all of the assets of the International Subsidiaries had been written off in
prior years. The disposal of the Company�s satellite assets and transfer of its International Subsidiaries to a Liquidating Trust resulted in the
elimination of approximately $61.9 million in satellite-related liabilities, a one-time $48.7 million gain, and the triggering of tax losses of
approximately $2.4 billion, which the Company believes can be carried forward to offset taxable income for up to 20 years.

5. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

2014 Impairment of Finite-Lived Intangibles and Goodwill

The Company evaluates its finite-lived intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a finite-lived
intangible asset or asset group may not be recoverable. In January 2015, the Company suspended further development of the Provitro� technology
as it had been unable to identify near-term opportunities to commercialize the technology. The Company determined that this suspension
provided additional evidence about conditions that existed prior to December 31, 2014, triggering an impairment analysis of the finite-lived
intangibles associated with its Provitro asset group. In its impairment analysis, the Company compared the carrying amount of the Provitro�
technology to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the Provitro� technology. The Company concluded that the
anticipated undiscounted cash flows from the Provitro� technology did not exceed the carrying value of the Provitro� technology, prompting the
Company to recognize a $10.5 million non-cash impairment charge in its results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014.

The Company evaluates its goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of a Company reporting unit exceeds fair value. Upon the completion of the goodwill impairment analysis in the fourth
quarter of the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company determined that there was no impairment associated with its IP management
reporting unit. However, in light of the impairment of the Provitro� technology, the Company determined that the goodwill related to its
acquisition of Provitro was impaired and recorded a $0.5 million non-cash impairment charge in its results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded no such impairment charges for finite-lived assets or goodwill.

Intangible Assets

The Company has determined that purchased trade names for both Ovidian and ContentGuard have indefinite lives as the Company expects to
generate cash flows related to these assets indefinitely. Consequently, the trade names are not amortized, but are reviewed for impairment at
least annually in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate the carrying values of the assets may exceed their fair values.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives consist of acquired patents, developed technology, customer relationships and trade secrets which are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit which range from six to thirteen years.
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The following table presents details of the Company�s intangible assets and related amortization (in thousands):

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Cost:
Patents $ 139,902 $ 144,739
Developed technology(1) �  12,853
Customer relationships 6,615 6,615
Trade names 4,812 4,812
Trade secrets 1,940 1,940

Total cost 153,269 170,959

Accumulated amortization:
Patents (40,321) (27,925) 
Developed technology(1) �  (1,071)
Customer relationships (2,680) (1,872) 
Trade names �  �  
Trade secrets (566) (404) 

Total accumulated amortization (43,567) (31,272) 

Intangible assets, net $ 109,702 $ 139,687

(1) The Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $10.5 million related to Provitro�s developed technology reducing the carrying
value to zero during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2014.

The following table presents the expected period of benefit of the Company�s intangible assets with finite useful lives:

Weighted
Average Lives

Patents 10 years
Customer relationships 9 years
Trade secrets 12 years

The Company has used, and may continue to use, different structures and forms of consideration for its acquisitions of intangible assets.
Acquisitions may be consummated through the use of cash, equity, seller financing, third party debt, earn-out obligations, revenue sharing, profit
sharing, or some combination of these types of consideration. Consequently, the acquisition values reflected in the Company�s investing activities
may represent lower amounts than would be reflected, for example, in a situation where cash alone was utilized to complete the acquisition.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company expanded its patent holdings through the acquisition of additional patents covering
memory and storage technologies for electronic devices. During 2012, the Company acquired patent portfolios covering wireless handset and
infrastructure technologies, e-commerce, mobile applications, video delivery, security, and other technologies. Although no patents were
purchased during the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company was issued 37 patents and filed applications for an additional 62 patents.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company sold patents in several transactions and has included the gross proceeds in
revenue. Cost associated with the patents sold, including any remaining net book value, are included in cost of revenues. Certain of the patents
sold, as well as certain of those licensed, were subject to an obligation to pay a substantial portion of the net proceeds to a third party. These
costs are also included in cost of revenues. In future periods, these third party payments as a percentage of revenues may vary significantly based
on the structure utilized for any given acquisition.
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During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company abandoned certain patents that were not part of existing licensing programs or for
which the Company determined that it would no longer allocate resources to their maintenance and enforcement. Losses on the abandonment of
patents for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $2.8 million. For the year ended December 31, 2013, patents with a combined book value of
less than $0.1 million were abandoned. There were no abandonments for the year ended December 31, 2012. Costs associated with the
abandonment of patents, including any remaining net book value, are included in patent administration and related costs.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company, through its subsidiaries, holds more than 1,200 issued patents worldwide, with additional patent
applications pending.

The Company recorded amortization expense related to purchased intangible assets of $15.9 million, $15.9 million and $13.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, which is included in amortization of intangibles in the consolidated statements of
operations.

The estimated future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets as of December 31, 2014 is as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Amount
2015 $ 14,332
2016 14,371
2017 14,147
2018 13,966
2019 13,781
Thereafter 34,293

Total $ 104,890

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in the Company�s acquisitions of Ovidian on June 17,
2011, ContentGuard on October 31, 2011 and Provitro on February 21, 2013.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Beginning balance $ 21,725 $ 21,209
Impairment of goodwill (516) �  
Acquisition of Provitro �  516

Ending balance $ 21,209 $ 21,725

6. Accrued expenses

The following table summarizes accrued expenses (in thousands):

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Accrued payroll and related expenses $ 2,570 $ 2,242
Accrued legal, professional and other expenses 3,254 3,429
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7. Other liabilities

From time to time the Company agrees to make contingent and non-contingent future payments in connection with acquisition transactions. The
Company recognizes the contingent portion of these future payments as liabilities when they are estimable and it is probable that they will be
paid. At December 31, 2014, other current liabilities include an installment payment obligation of $4.0 million due in 2015 related to the 2013
acquisition of the Company�s memory and storage technologies portfolio. Additionally, other current liabilities include approximately $2.2
million of expense related to restricted stock awards. At December 31, 2013, installment payment obligations included in current and
non-current liabilities were $2.0 million and $4.0 million, respectively. Additionally, other non-current liabilities included approximately $1.4
million of expense related to restricted stock awards.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Commitments�The Company�s contractual obligations include an installment payment obligation arising from the 2013 acquisition of
the Company�s memory and technology storage technologies portfolio of which $4.0 million is due in 2015.

Lease and Commitments�The Company has operating lease agreements for its main office in Kirkland, Washington, and offices in California,
Texas, Washington, D.C. and Finland. Total rental expense included in general and administrative expenses in the Company�s consolidated
statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Rent expense $ 662 $ 875 $ 637
As of December 31, 2014, future minimum payments under the Company�s lease agreements were as follows (in thousands):

Operating
leases

2015 $ 626
2016 612
2017 591
2018 425
2019 205

Total minimum payments $ 2,459

Litigation�In the opinion of management, except for those matters described below and elsewhere in this report, to the extent so described,
litigation, contingent liabilities and claims against the Company in the normal course of business are not expected to involve any judgments or
settlements that would be material to the Company�s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Enforcement Action against Amazon et. al.�On December 18, 2013, ContentGuard filed a patent infringement lawsuit against Amazon.com, Inc.,
Apple Inc., Blackberry Corporation (fka Research in Motion Corporation), Huawei Device USA, Inc. and Motorola Mobility LLC (the
�ContentGuard Defendants�) in the Eastern District of Texas, in which ContentGuard alleged that these ContentGuard Defendants infringed and
continue to infringe nine of its patents by making, using, selling or offering for sale certain mobile communication and computing devices (the
�Amazon Litigation�). On January 17, 2014, ContentGuard filed an amended complaint in the Amazon Litigation adding certain affiliates of the
original defendants, along with HTC Corporation, HTC America Inc., Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd., Samsung Electronics America, Inc. and
Samsung Telecommunications America, LLC. In August 2014, DirecTV intervened in the case and thereby
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became an additional ContentGuard Defendant, against whom ContentGuard asserted additional infringement claims. In February 2015, the
presiding judge heard claim construction arguments from all parties. Trials are scheduled for September 2015. The Company is unable to
anticipate the timing or outcome of the Amazon Litigation.

Google Actions�On January 31, 2014, Google Inc. (�Google�) filed a declaratory judgment suit in the Northern District of California alleging that
Google does not infringe the nine patents asserted in the Amazon Litigation. On February 5, 2014, ContentGuard filed a patent infringement
action in the Eastern District of Texas against Google, in which ContentGuard alleges that Google has infringed and continues to infringe the
same nine patents. In April 2014, the presiding judge in the Eastern District of Texas, with the endorsement of the presiding judge in the
Northern District of California, ruled that all claims by and against Google will be resolved in the Eastern District of Texas, and not in the
Northern District of California. The presiding judge also declined to consolidate the Google actions with the Amazon Litigation. In February
2015, the presiding judge heard claim construction arguments. Trial is scheduled for September 2015. The Company is unable to anticipate the
timing or outcome of the actions by and against Google.

IPR and CBM Petitions by ContentGuard Defendants�In December 2014, Apple filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the
�USPTO�) twenty-nine inter partes review (�IPR�) petitions and three covered business method (�CBM�) petitions , through which Apple is
challenging the validity of all nine patents asserted in the Amazon Litigation. Also in December 2014, Google filed three CBMs, challenging the
validity of three of the nine asserted patents. The USPTO will decide in the coming months whether to initiate review proceedings on some or all
of the IPR and CBM petitions. The USPTO�s Patent Trial and Appeal Board (�PTAB�), which hears all IPR and CBM challenges, will administer
and hear argument in any initiated proceedings. The Company is unable to predict whether or not proceedings will be initiated, or whether or not
such proceedings will impact the timing or outcome of our claims against the ContentGuard Defendants.

ZTE IPRs�In early 2012, ContentGuard and its subsidiaries filed lawsuits in United States and German courts, alleging that ZTE Corporation,
ZTE (USA) Inc. and ZTE Deutschland GmbH (collectively �ZTE�) infringed and continue to infringe ContentGuard patents by making, using,
selling or offering for sale certain mobile communication and computing devices. ZTE subsequently filed IPR petitions with the USPTO,
challenging the validity of six U.S. patents asserted by ContentGuard against ZTE. The PTAB terminated proceedings with respect to two
patents, both of which emerged with valid patent claims. ZTE�s claims against the other four patents, all of which are also asserted against the
ContentGuard Defendants, went to trial. Following trial, the PTAB rejected ZTE�s remaining challenges, and confirmed the validity of all claims
in the four patents. ZTE�s time for appeal expired with no appeals filed. As a result, the decisions of the PTAB, as against ZTE, are now final.
Nonetheless, all four affirmed patents have been challenged in fourteen new IPRs filed by Apple, as described in the paragraph above. The
Company is unable to predict whether, and to what extent, the PTAB will allow Apple to challenge these patents in new proceedings.

ZTE Enforcement Actions�Meanwhile, in response to the claims filed against ZTE in Germany, in which ContentGuard GmbH alleged
infringement of three European patents, ZTE filed a nullity action against two of the patents and an opposition proceeding against the third
patent. The infringement and nullity proceedings in Germany, along with all U.S. court actions, were �put to rest� or stayed as the result of a
standstill agreement signed by ContentGuard and ZTE in December 2013. ZTE prevailed in the opposition proceeding, resulting in the
revocation of one European patent. ContentGuard must decide whether to appeal the revocation prior to end of the first quarter of 2015. The
Company is unable to anticipate the timing or outcome of the opposition proceedings.

J&J Collection�In November 2012, the Company obtained an arbitration judgment in the U.K. against Jay and Jayendra (Pty), a South African
corporation (�J&J Group�) for approximately $4.0 million. J&J Group submitted multiple appeals to the U.K. courts, the last of which was rejected
in July 2013. In December 2014, the Company obtained an enforcement judgment against J&J Group from a South African court. J&J�s time to
appeal the enforcement judgment expired with no appeals filed, and the Company has commenced action to enforce the
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judgment. Due to the uncertainty of collection, the Company has not recognized the gain associated with the judgment. The Company is unable
to anticipate the timing or outcome of the collection proceedings against J&J Group.

9. Shareholders� Equity

Common Stock�The Company�s Articles of Incorporation authorizes two classes of common stock, Class A and Class B. The rights of the
holders of shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion. Holders of
shares of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Holders of shares of Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes per
share. The Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of its holder into shares of Class A common stock. Each share of
Class B common stock is convertible into one share of Class A common stock. Additionally, subject to certain exceptions, shares of Class B
common stock will automatically convert into shares of Class A common stock if the shares of Class B common stock are sold or transferred.
Class A common stock is not convertible. Eagle River Satellite Holdings, LLC, the Company�s controlling shareholder, together with its affiliates
Eagle River Investments, LLC, Eagle River, Inc. and Eagle River Partners, LLC held an economic interest of approximately 33.3% and a voting
interest of approximately 65.1% in the Company as of December 31, 2014.

Stock Incentive Plan�On November 14, 2012, the Company�s shareholders approved the Pendrell Corporation 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the
�2012 Plan�). Effective upon the approval of the 2012 Plan, the Company�s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the �2000 Plan�)
was terminated. No additional awards will be granted under the 2000 Plan.

The purpose of the 2012 Plan is to assist the Company in securing and retaining the services of skilled employees, directors, consultants and/or
advisors of the Company and to provide incentives for such individuals to exert maximum efforts toward the Company�s success. The 2012 Plan
allows for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock awards, performance cash awards, restricted stock awards,
restricted stock unit awards and other stock awards (collectively, �Awards�) to employees, directors, consultants and/or advisors who provide
services to the Company or its subsidiaries.

Under the 2012 Plan, the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards from and after the
effective date of the 2012 Plan will not exceed, in the aggregate, the sum of 37,952,546 shares, plus any shares subject to outstanding stock
awards granted under the 2000 Plan that (i) expire or terminate for any reason prior to exercise or settlement; (ii) are forfeited, cancelled or
otherwise returned due to the failure to meet a condition required to vest such shares; or (iii) are reacquired, withheld or not issued to satisfy a
tax withholding obligation in connection with an award. As of December 31, 2014, 22,380,966 shares were reserved and remain available for
grant under the 2012 Plan.

Stock-Based Compensation�The Company records stock-based compensation based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant and
recognizes compensation cost over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. The Company estimates its forfeiture rate for
Awards based on the Company�s historical rate of forfeitures due to terminations and expectations for forfeitures in the future. The Company�s
estimated forfeiture rate was 5% for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Stock-based compensation expense included in the Company�s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 was as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Stock options(1) $ 7,268 $ 5,723 $ 4,564
Restricted stock awards(1)(2)(3) 2,137 6,622 4,033

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 9,405 $ 12,345 $ 8,597
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(1) On November 19, 2014, Benjamin G. Wolff resigned from his positions as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Company entered into a separation agreement in accordance with the terms of Mr. Wolff�s Amended and Restated Employment Letter
Agreement (the �Agreement�). The Agreement provided for the vesting of all options, shares of restricted stock (�RSAs�) and restricted stock
units (�RSUs�) in which Mr. Wolff would have vested had he remained actively employed by the Company through the second anniversary
of his resignation, excluding any unvested performance-based RSAs or performance-based RSUs. The Agreement also provided for an
extension of the exercise period for Mr. Wolff�s vested stock options until December 15, 2015. The extension of the exercise period is
considered a modification and resulted in additional stock-based compensation expense of $0.7 million, as determined using a
Black-Scholes model, which was recognized on the modification date as the options were vested pursuant to the Agreement. The
accelerated vesting of the options, RSUs and RSAs resulted in $2.1 million of additional stock-based compensation expense in the year
ended December 31, 2014.

(2) Stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, includes $0.8 million, $0.8 million and $0.6
million of expense, respectively, related to 250,000 Class A common stock restricted stock awards that are required to be treated as a
liability. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, $2.2 million and $1.4 million, respectively, were accrued for such awards.

(3) In August 2012, the Company�s Board of Directors approved a modification which applied additional alternative vesting criteria to
3,175,000 shares of restricted stock previously granted to 12 employees. As a result of the modification the Company recorded an
additional $1.0 million of stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2012, which represents the incremental fair
value of the modified restricted stock.

At December 31, 2014, the balance of stock-based compensation cost to be expensed in future years related to unvested stock-based awards, as
adjusted for expected forfeitures, is as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 2,894
2016 1,428
2017 763
2018 203
2019 and thereafter �  

$ 5,288

The weighted average period over which the unearned stock-based compensation expense is expected to be recognized is approximately 2.2
years.

Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights�The Company has granted stock options and stock appreciation rights to employees, directors,
consultants and advisors in connection with their service to the Company. Stock options to purchase the Company�s Class A common stock are
granted at the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. The Company has both service-based stock options and performance-based
stock options. The majority of service-based stock options granted to employees become exercisable over a four year period, while stock options
granted to non-employee directors generally vest over one year. Performance-based stock options become exercisable, and stock appreciation
rights will be triggered, if the Company achieves specified performance goals during the performance period and the grantee remains employed
during the subsequent vesting period. Stock options generally expire 10 years after the date of grant or up to three months after termination of
employment, whichever occurs earlier.
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The weighted average fair value of stock options and stock appreciation rights granted during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 was estimated using the Black-Scholes Model with the following assumptions:

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Weighted average expected volatility 55% 55% 57% 
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 1.9% 1.2% 1.1% 
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 
Weighted average expected term in years 6.2 5.8 6.2
Weighted average estimated fair value per option granted $ 0.79 $ 0.88 $ 0.68

The assumptions used to calculate the fair value are evaluated and revised, as necessary, to reflect market conditions and the Company�s
experience.

Prior to the third quarter of 2012, the Company�s expected stock price volatility rate was a blend of the Company�s historical stock price volatility
and a peer historical volatility, which the Company believed was in line with its change in business direction and was more reflective of the
Company�s expected future volatility at that time. In the third quarter of 2012, the Company modified the expected stock price volatility rate to a
rate based solely on the Company�s peer historical volatility. The change occurred simultaneous with the Company�s complete exit from its
historical satellite business as a result of the divesture of its remaining MEO Assets and the deconsolidation of its International Subsidiaries on
June 29, 2012. The Company is now focused on its IP investment, advisory and asset management business and has determined that a volatility
rate based solely on a peer group is more representative of the Company�s business direction and expected future volatility.

The risk-free interest rate is based upon U.S. Treasury bond interest rates appropriate for the term of the Company�s employee stock options and
stock appreciation rights. The expected dividend yield is based on the Company�s history and expectation of dividend payments. The expected
term has been estimated using the simplified method which permit entities, under certain circumstances, to continue to use the simplified method
in developing estimates of the expected term of �plain-vanilla� share options and stock appreciation rights.

The Company granted the following stock options and stock appreciation rights to certain employees in connection with their continued or new
employment with the Company during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Service-based 4,374,000 1,248,000 15,450,875
Performance-based �  250,000 �  
Stock options issued as Board of Director
compensation 300,000 300,000 300,000

Total granted 4,674,000 1,798,000 15,750,875

Fair value of grants $ 3,702 $ 1,585 $ 10,712
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The Company�s stock option and stock appreciation rights activity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is summarized as
follows:

Number of
options/SARs

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Weighted
average
remaining

life
(in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value(1)

(in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 14,195,000 $ 3.23
Granted 15,750,875 1.27
Exercised (597,875) 1.25
Forfeited (862,625) 3.04

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 28,485,375 2.19
Granted 1,798,000 1.73
Exercised (165,312) 1.13
Forfeited (1,621,600) 2.20

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 28,496,463 2.17
Granted 4,674,000 1.49
Exercised (992,499) 1.18
Forfeited(2) (6,623,938) 2.65

Outstanding at December 31, 2014(3) 25,554,026 $ 1.96 4.93 $ 2,494

Exercisable at December 31, 2014(3) 16,987,290 $ 1.79 3.39 $ 1,970

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2014(3) 25,175,679 $ 1.96 4.88 $ 2,468

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents total pretax intrinsic value (i.e., the difference between the Company�s closing stock price on the last
trading day of 2014 and the exercise price, times the number of shares) that would have been received by the option holders had all
option holders exercised their stock options and stock appreciation rights on the last business day of the fiscal year.

(2) In association with the departure of the Company�s former CEO, during the year ended December 31, 2014 an additional 375,000 stock
options vested due to accelerated vesting of shares and an additional 375,000 shares forfeited.

(3) In association with the departure of the Company�s former CEO, and in accordance with the terms of Mr. Wolff�s Agreement, the exercise
period for Mr. Wolff�s vested stock options was extended until December 15, 2015. Excluding Mr. Wolff�s 8,927,500 vested options with
a weighted average exercise price of $1.42 and a weighted average remaining life of 0.96 years, the weighted average exercise price and
weighted average remaining life for all other outstanding, exercisable, and vested and expected to vest options and stock appreciation
rights, is as follows:

Number of
Options/
SARs

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Weighted
average
remaining

life
(in years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 16,626,526 $ 2.24 7.06
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 8,059,790 2.19 6.09
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2014 16,248,179 2.26 7.03

The intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2014 was $0.4 million. The total fair value of options which
vested during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $7.3 million, $5.8 million and $4.1 million, respectively.
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The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable stock options and stock appreciation rights as of December 31,
2014:

Outstanding stock options and
stock appreciation rights

Exercisable stock options
and stock appreciation rights

Range of exercise prices
Number of
options/SARs

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Weighted
average
remaining
life (in
years)

Number of
options/SARs

Weighted
average
exercise
price

$0.00�$2.00 18,270,063 $ 1.29 4.96 11,887,990 $ 1.25
$2.01�$4.00 5,163,963 2.62 5.31 3,979,300 2.67
$4.01�$6.00 1,620,000 4.90 2.84 1,120,000 4.40
$6.01�$10.00 500,000 10.00 6.46 �  �  

25,554,026 $ 1.96 4.93 16,987,290 $ 1.79

Restricted Stock Awards�The Company has granted restricted stock awards to employees and consultants in connection with their service to the
Company. The Company�s stock grants can be categorized as either service-based awards, performance-based awards, and/or market-based
awards.

The Company granted the following shares of Class A common stock underlying restricted stock awards to certain employees in connection with
their continued or new employment with the Company and to members of its board of directors during the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Service-based(1) 250,000 211,250 3,401,813
Market-based(2)(3)(4)(5) 150,000 300,000 2,927,812
Shares issued as Board of Director compensation 279,349 348,698 145,124

Total granted 679,349 859,948 6,474,749

Fair value of grants $ 869 $ 1,198 $ 9,979

(1) The service-based restricted stock awards generally vest at a rate of 25% per year over four years.
(2) The market-based RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2014 fully vest when both of the following have occurred: (i) the

average closing price of the Company�s Class A common stock, measured over any period of 60 consecutive calendar days, has reached or
exceeded $3.00 per share (the �Price Trigger�), and (ii) the first anniversary of the grant date has occurred. If the Price Trigger is not
achieved by the third anniversary of the grant date, then none of the market-based RSUs will vest.

(3) The market-based RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2013 consisted of two awards of 150,000 units each would have
vested only after designated time periods had elapsed and designated stock prices had been met. These awards were forfeited during the
year ended December 31, 2014.

(4) The market-based RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2012 vest based upon, (i) the Company�s common stock achieving an
average closing price of $2.00 for 60 consecutive calendar days, and (ii) upon the Company�s common stock achieving an average closing
price of $3.00 for 60 consecutive calendar days. During the year ended December 31, 2013 the market condition of an average closing
stock price of $2.00 for 60 consecutive calendar days was met and 2,780,164 restricted stock awards vested.

(5) On August 24, 2012, the Company�s Board of Directors approved a modification which added alternative vesting criteria
for 3,175,000 shares of restricted stock previously granted to employees, including the 2,975,000 granted in 2011. The performance
conditions were modified to encourage the attainment of key performance targets and retention of skilled employees. The new terms for
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The Company�s restricted stock award activity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is summarized as follows:

Number of
restricted

stock awards

Weighted
average
grant date
fair value

Unvested�December 31, 2011 4,610,909 $ 2.18
Granted 6,474,749 1.55
Vested (559,783) 1.57
Forfeited (717,500) 1.62

Unvested�December 31, 2012 9,808,375 1.84
Granted 859,948 1.39
Vested (4,298,239) 1.53
Forfeited (457,968) 1.76

Unvested�December 31, 2013 5,912,116 1.62
Granted 679,349 1.28
Vested (1,844,012) 1.87
Forfeited (2,187,939) 1.23

Unvested�December 31, 2014 2,559,514 $ 1.67

During the year ended December 31, 2014, 1,042,188 stock awards vested due to the accelerated vesting of Mr. Wolff�s RSAs and RSUs and
801,824 vested as a result of the Company�s employees achieving service targets. Certain holders of the vested RSAs and RSUs exercised their
right to have their awards net-share settled to cover statutory employee taxes related to the vesting of the RSAs and RSUs. The settlement of
these awards resulted in the Company repurchasing and/or cancelling 504,435 shares for $0.8 million. Of this amount, $0.2 million was charged
to retained earnings and $0.6 million was charged to additional paid in capital.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, 2,780,164 market-based RSAs and RSUs vested as a result of the Company�s achievement of the
market condition of an average closing stock price of $2.00 for 60 consecutive calendar days and 1,518,075 service-based RSAs and RSUs
vested as a result of the achievement of service targets. The net-share settlement of certain of these awards resulted in the Company repurchasing
and/or cancelling 1,107,901 shares for $2.7 million. Of this amount, $1.0 million was charged to retained earnings and $1.7 million was charged
to additional paid in capital.

During the year ended December 31, 2012 all vested awards were service based awards.

Warrants�In connection with the settlement of long-term debt in 2002, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of the Company�s
Class A common stock. Each warrant contained provisions for the adjustment of the exercise price and the number of shares issuable upon the
exercise of the warrant in the event of certain dilutive transactions. During the fourth quarter of 2012, warrants to purchase a total of 3.2 million
shares of the Company�s Class A common stock were exercised at a price of $0.01 per share. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no
additional warrants outstanding.

10. Gain on Deconsolidation of Subsidiaries

After the sale of the MEO Assets, the Company�s only remaining satellite-related assets were housed in the International Subsidiaries. Due to
cumbersome corporate laws in the jurisdictions in which the International Subsidiaries are domiciled, the Company could not liquidate and
dissolve the International Subsidiaries in a cost effective manner; nor could it merely abandon the entities. Accordingly, the Company
determined that the most expeditious path to divestiture was a complete disposition of the International Subsidiaries into the Liquidating Trust.
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As a result of the transfer of the International Subsidiaries to the Liquidating Trust, control of the International Subsidiaries now rests with the
trustee of the Liquidating Trust rather than the Company. Although the Company no longer has control of the International Subsidiaries, it
remains a creditor in the same manner as other third party creditors due to significant loans made to the International Subsidiaries The Company
determined that its status as a creditor does not render the Liquidating Trust a variable interest entity, and therefore deconsolidated the
International Subsidiaries from its consolidated financial operating results effective June 29, 2012.

As a result of the deconsolidation of the International Subsidiaries, the Company recognized a gain of $48.7 million principally through the
elimination of $61.9 million of liabilities associated with the International Subsidiaries, including liabilities for uncertain tax positions, net of the
recognition of cumulative translation adjustment losses associated with the International Subsidiaries of $12.7 million previously recognized in
accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders� equity.

The following table summarizes the International Subsidiaries obligations, excluding $10.0 million for liabilities related to uncertain tax
positions, prior to the transfer to the Liquidating Trust on June 29, 2012 (in thousands):

June 29,
2012

Accrued expenses $ 6,568
Accrued interest 30,474
Capital lease obligations 14,881

$ 51,923

The Company continued to accrue expenses associated with contractual obligations of the International Subsidiaries until the liabilities were
transferred to the Liquidating Trust. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded general and administrative expenses
related to the International Subsidiaries of $0.3 million and recorded $2.5 million of interest expense related to the contractual obligations of the
International Subsidiaries.

11. Gain on settlement of Boeing Litigation

The Company was in litigation with Boeing, arising out of agreements with Boeing for the development and launch of its MEO satellites and
related launch vehicles. In February 2009, the trial court entered judgment in the Company�s favor for approximately $603.2 million. On
April 13, 2012, the California Court of Appeal overturned the judgment. The reversal was the culmination of a three year Court of Appeal
process. The Court of Appeal also ordered the Company to reimburse Boeing for its appellate costs, including the cost of an appellate bond,
which would have been material.

On June 25, 2012, the Company settled its litigation against Boeing. As part of the settlement, the Company agreed to withdraw its petition for
review to the California Supreme Court in exchange for a $10.0 million payment from Boeing and Boeing�s waiver of its right to appellate costs.
The settlement agreement and mutual release between the Company and Boeing fully releases and discharges any and all claims between Boeing
and the Company. As a result of the agreement, the Company recorded a gain on litigation settlement of $10.0 million during the year ended
December 31, 2012.
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12. Income Taxes

The Company�s income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 consists of the following (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

United States�deferred $ 33 $ �  $ �  
Foreign�current 6,270 �  (1,034) 

$ 6,303 $ �  $ (1,034) 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a tax provision of $6.3 million related to foreign taxes withheld on revenue
generated from a license agreement with a licensee domiciled in a foreign jurisdiction. In general, foreign taxes withheld may be claimed as a
deduction on future U.S. corporate income tax returns, or as a credit against future U.S. federal income tax liabilities, subject to certain
limitations. However, due to uncertainty regarding the Company�s ability to utilize the deduction or credit resulting from the foreign withholding,
at December 31, 2014, the Company established a full valuation allowance against this deferred tax asset.

The foreign-current income tax benefit recorded for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily due to expiration of the statute of
limitations associated with previously recorded uncertain tax positions, including interest and penalties.

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate of 34% to the Company�s effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Statutory tax rate 34.00% 34.00% 34.00% 
Change in valuation allowance (95.75) (9.33) (28.71) 
Release of uncertain tax position 62.77 �  �  
Foreign withholding taxes (7.98) �  �  
Deferred tax adjustments �  (43.17) �  
§338(h)(10) asset sale treatment upon DBSD sale to DISH �  21.22 �  
Liquidation and deconsolidation of subsidiaries �  (0.02) (52.91) 
Change in state rate (0.13) (0.10) 40.89
Expiration of NOLs (0.13) (1.11) 0.78
Other (4.94) (1.49) 0.89
Foreign tax benefit �  �  2.41

Effective tax rate (12.16)% �  (2.65)% 
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The significant components of the Company�s net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating and capital losses $ 938,235 $ 894,798
Basis difference in Liquidating Trust 29,381 31,642
Accrued expenses and other 14,824 10,150

Total deferred tax assets 982,440 936,590
Valuation allowance (955,133) (905,502) 

Net deferred tax assets $ 27,307 $ 31,088

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangibles $ (28,828) $ (32,576) 

Total deferred tax liabilities $ (28,828) $ (32,576) 

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (1,521) $ (1,488) 

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had federal tax net operating loss carryforwards in the United States (�NOLs�) of approximately $2.5
billion. A significant portion of the NOL was triggered when the Company disposed of its satellite business and transferred the International
Subsidiaries to the Liquidating Trust. The Company believes the NOL can be carried forward to offset certain future taxable income that may be
generated during the NOL carryforward period. The NOL carryforward period begins to expire in 2025 with a significant portion expiring in
2032. The use of the NOL will be significantly limited if the Company undergoes a Tax Ownership Change under Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code (�Tax Ownership Change�). Broadly, the Company will have a Tax Ownership Change if, over a three year testing period, the
portion of all stock of the Company, by value, owned by one or more 5% shareholder increases by more than 50 percentage points. For purposes
of this test, shareholders that own less than 5% of the stock of the Company are aggregated into one or more separate �public groups�, each of
which is treated as a 5% shareholder. In general, shares traded within a public group are not included in the Tax Ownership Change test. As
discussed below, the Board of Directors adopted a Tax Benefits Preservation Plan designed to preserve shareholder value and the value of
certain tax assets primarily associated with NOLs under Section 382. As of December 31, 2014, the Company also had tax loss carryforwards in
the state of California of approximately $1.4 billion, a portion of which will expire in 2015. A significant portion of the California loss
carryforward was generated when the Company disposed of its satellite business and will expire in 2032. The impacts of a Tax Ownership
Change, discussed above, would apply to the California tax losses as well.

For all years presented, the Company has considered all available evidence, including the history of tax losses and the uncertainty around future
taxable income. Based on the weight of the evidence available at December 31, 2014, a valuation allowance has been recorded to reduce the
value of the Company�s DTA, including the DTA associated with the NOL, to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $37.7 million. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the IRS
consented to the Company�s request for reasonable cause relief regarding the availability of an additional $95.7 million of NOLs. As a result, the
Company released $32.5 million of unrecognized tax benefit during the year, resulting in a remaining unrecognized tax benefit of $5.1 million at
December 31, 2014, with no accrued interest and penalties. The additional $95.7 million of NOLs is included in the $2.5 billion NOL
carryforward discussed above.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Beginning of period $ 37,665 $ 19,452 $ 4,686
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year �  �  19,452
Additions for tax positions related to prior years �  32,533 144
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (32,533) (14,320) (4,830) 

End of period $ 5,132 $ 37,665 $ 19,452

The unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2014, if fully recognized, would decrease the Company�s effective tax rate. The Company
estimates a reduction in its unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $5.1 million may occur within the next twelve months upon resolution of
determinations by taxing authorities.

The Company and its subsidiaries file U.S. federal income tax returns and tax returns in various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is
also open to examination for the years ended 2000 and forward with respect to NOLs generated and carried forward from those years. The
Company is open to examination by foreign jurisdictions for tax years 2011 forward.

Certain Taxes Payable Irrespective of NOLs�Under the Internal Revenue Code and related Treasury Regulations, the Company may �carry
forward� its NOLs in certain circumstances to offset current and future income and thus reduce its federal income tax liability, subject to certain
restrictions. To the extent that the NOLs do not otherwise become limited, the Company believes that it will be able to carry forward a
significant amount of NOLs. However, these NOLs will not impact all taxes to which the Company may be subject. For instance, state or foreign
income taxes and/or revenue based taxes may be payable if the Company�s income or revenue is attributed to jurisdictions that impose such
taxes; the Company�s NOLs do not entirely offset its income for alternative minimum tax; and the NOLs will not offset federal personal holding
company tax liability that Pendrell or one or more of its corporate subsidiaries may incur. This is not an exhaustive list, but merely illustrative of
the types of taxes to which the Company�s NOLs are not applicable.

Personal Holding Company Determination�The Internal Revenue Code imposes an additional tax on the undistributed income of personal
holding companies. A personal holding company is a corporation with five or fewer individual shareholders whose ownership exceeds 50% of
the corporation�s outstanding shares, measured by share value (�Concentrated Ownership�), and which generates personal holding company income
(�PHCI�) that constitutes 60% or more of its adjusted ordinary gross income. Broadly, PHCI includes such things as dividends, interest, rents and
royalties. For a corporate subsidiary, Concentrated Ownership is determined by reference to ownership of the parent corporation(s), and the
subsidiary�s income is subject to additional tests to determine whether the income renders the subsidiary a personal holding company. Due to the
significant number of shares held by the Company�s largest shareholders and the type of income that the Company generates, the Company must
continually assess share ownership of Pendrell and its consolidated subsidiary ContentGuard to determine whether or not there is Concentrated
Ownership of either corporation.

In the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company determined that ContentGuard was not a personal holding company through 2014. The
Company also determined that Pendrell, the parent company, met the Concentrated Ownership test through 2014. However, Pendrell did not
have sufficient PHCI to create a PCH tax obligation. The Company does not anticipate any resulting PHC tax liability for current or prior years.
If either Pendrell or ContentGuard is determined to be a PHC in the future, generates net PHCI, and does not distribute to its shareholders a
proportionate dividend in the full amount of the net PHCI, then the undistributed net PHCI will be taxed (at 20% under current law).
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Tax Benefits Preservation Plan�Effective January 29, 2010, the Board of Directors adopted the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan to help the
Company preserve its ability to utilize fully its NOLs and to help preserve potential future NOLs. As discussed above, if the Company
experiences a �Tax Ownership Change,� as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, the Company�s ability to use the NOLs could be
significantly limited.

The Tax Benefits Plan is intended to act as a deterrent to any person or group acquiring, without the approval of the Company�s Board of
Directors, beneficial ownership of 4.9% or more of the Company�s securities, defined to include: (i) shares of its Class A common stock and
Class B common stock, (ii) shares of its preferred stock, (iii) warrants, rights, or options to purchase its securities, and (iv) any interest that
would be treated as �stock� of the Company for purposes of Section 382 or pursuant to Treasury Regulation § 1.382-2T(f)(18).

Holders of 4.9% or more of the Company�s securities outstanding as of the close of business on January 29, 2010 will not trigger the Tax
Benefits Plan so long as they do not (i) acquire additional securities constituting one-half of one percent (0.5%) or more of the Company�s
securities outstanding as of the date of the Tax Benefits Plan (as adjusted to reflect any stock splits, subdivisions and the like), or (ii) fall under
4.9% ownership of the Company�s securities and then re-acquire securities that increase their ownership to 4.9% or more of the Company�s
securities. The Board of Directors may exempt certain persons whose acquisition of securities is determined by the Board of Directors not to
jeopardize the Company�s tax benefits or to otherwise be in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders. The Board of Directors may
also exempt certain transactions.

13. Employee Benefits

The Company provides its eligible employees with medical and dental benefits, insurance arrangements to cover death in service, long-term
disability and personal accident, as well as a defined contribution retirement plan. Expense related to contributions by the Company under the
defined contribution retirement plan included in general and administrative expenses in the Company�s consolidated statements of operations for
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
  2014    2013    2012  

Defined contribution expenses $ 264 $ 291 $ 242
14. Related Parties

The Company considers its related parties to be its principal shareholders and their affiliates.

Eagle River Satellite Holdings, LLC (�ERSH�), Eagle River Investments, Eagle River, Inc. and Eagle River Partners, LLC (�ERP�)�ERSH
is the Company�s controlling shareholder. ERSH, together with its affiliates Eagle River Investments, LLC, Eagle River, Inc. and ERP
(collectively, �Eagle River�) holds an economic interest of approximately 33.3% of the Company�s outstanding common stock and a voting interest
of approximately 65.1% in the Company as of December 31, 2014. On November 26, 2012, Eagle River Investments, LLC exercised warrants to
purchase three million shares of the Company�s Class A common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share.

Prior to July 2012, the Company subleased from Eagle River, Inc. the office space for the Company�s headquarters in Kirkland, Washington. The
sublease was a pass-through agreement, pursuant to which the Company paid rent to Eagle River, Inc. and reimbursed costs and expenses to
Eagle River, Inc. that Eagle River, Inc. paid to its third-party landlord. The sublease expired contemporaneously with the expiration of the
underlying prime lease in July 2012. Payments made to Eagle River, Inc. under this agreement during the year ended December 31, 2012 totaled
$0.2 million.
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table contains selected unaudited statement of operations information for each quarter of the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013. The quarterly financial data reflects all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the periods
presented. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

In 2013, the Company established a bonus plan to award annual bonuses based on objectives established by the Company�s compensation
committee. During the year, operational and financial performance was measured against the established performance objectives to determine
the potential bonus payout. Although the Company believes it made significant progress in 2013, it did not meet certain of the objectives set
forth in the bonus plan. Accordingly, during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company decreased its estimate of the
potential bonus payout as a result of not achieving certain of its 2013 performance objectives.

The Company�s bonus accrual at September 30, 2013 was $2.6 million. As a result of the change in estimate, the full-year accrual was reduced to
$1.2 million at December 31, 2013. In prior quarters, the Company had expensed on average just under $0.9 million per quarter related to
bonuses in general and administrative expenses. The change in estimate created a credit of $1.4 million in general and administrative expenses in
the fourth quarter related to the potential bonus payout; or a swing of approximately $2.3 million less expense as compared to the average in the
prior three quarters.

Unaudited quarterly results were as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Three months ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Revenue $ 38,135 $ 10,992 $ 2,935 $ 802 $ 618 $ 781 $ 846 $ 553
Operating income (loss) 7,134 (13,053) (13,563) (16,739) (14,096) (15,037) (31,191) (13,032) 
Net income (loss) 815 (13,040) (13,588) (16,783) (14,117) (15,071) (31,244) (13,086) 
Net income (loss) attributable to
Pendrell 1,730 (12,366) (12,595) (15,822) (13,262) (14,228) (26,875) (12,646) 
Basic income (loss) per share
attributable to Pendrell $ 0.01 $ (0.05) $ (0.05) $ (0.06) $ (0.05) $ (0.05) $ (0.10) $ (0.05) 
Diluted income (loss) per share
attributable to Pendrell $ 0.01 $ (0.05) $ (0.05) $ (0.06) $ (0.05) $ (0.05) $ (0.10) $ (0.05) 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014, as such
terms are defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�), and have
concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC�s rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15f of
the Exchange Act. These internal controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the reported financial information is presented
fairly, that disclosures are adequate and that the judgments inherent in the preparation of financial statements are reasonable. There are inherent
limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control, including the possibility of human error and overriding of controls.
Consequently, an effective internal control system can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance with respect to reporting financial
information.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework and criteria
established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2014.

Our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 has been audited by Grant Thornton, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in �Item 9A�Controls and Procedures� within this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2014 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders

Pendrell Corporation

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Pendrell Corporation (a Washington corporation) and subsidiaries (the
�Company�) as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company�s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company�s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, and our report dated March 6, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON, LLP

Seattle, Washington

March 6, 2015
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Item 9B. Other Information.
In March 2015, the trustee of the Liquidating Trust into which the Company transferred certain satellite system assets notified the Company that
the Liquidating Trust had diligently attempted to obtain value from the satellite access node assets in Korea, but ultimately determined that such
assets are obsolete and worthless. The trustee therefore abandoned the assets, as evidenced by a March 4, 2015 letter from the Liquidating Trust
to Korea Telecom. This action will result in the realization by the Company of additional net operating losses of approximately $37 million in
2015.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled �Election of Directors,� �Executive Officers,� �Section
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance� and �Corporate Governance� in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2015 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled �Executive Compensation,� Director Compensation� and
�Corporate Governance-Meetings of the Board and Committees-Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation� and �Executive
Compensation�Compensation Committee Report� in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled �Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management� and �Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans� in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2015 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled �Certain Relationships and Related Transactions� and
�Corporate Governance-Independence of the Board of Directors� in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled �Ratification of the Selection of Our Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm� in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as part of this report

(1) Consolidated financial statements
The following consolidated financial statements are included in Part II, Item 8 of this report:

� Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

� Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

� Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

� Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

� Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders� Equity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

� Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

� Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial statement schedules
All other consolidated financial statements schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or
the information required to be set forth in the schedules is included in the consolidated financial statements or the accompanying notes.

(3) Exhibits
The Exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits, which appears immediately following the signature page and is incorporated herein by reference, are
filed as part of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PENDRELL CORPORATION

(Registrant)

Date: March 6, 2015 By: /S/    LEE E. MIKLES

Lee E. Mikles

Interim Chief Executive Officer and President

(Principal Executive Officer)
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Lee E. Mikles,
Steven A. Ednie and Timothy M. Dozois, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution
for him, and in his name in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same,
with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary
to be done therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and any of them or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the
capacities indicated on March 6, 2015:

Signature Title Date
/S/    LEE E. MIKLES

Lee E. Mikles

Interim Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer), Director

March 6, 2015

/S/    STEVEN A. EDNIE

Steven A. Ednie

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 6, 2015

/S/    RICHARD P. EMERSON

Richard P. Emerson

Director March 6, 2015

/S/    NICOLAS KAUSER

Nicolas Kauser

Director March 6, 2015

/S/    CRAIG O. MCCAW

Craig O. McCaw

Executive Chairman and Chairman of the Board
of Directors

March 6, 2015

/S/    R. GERARD SALEMME

R. Gerard Salemme

Director March 6, 2015
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/S/    STUART M. SLOAN

Stuart M. Sloan

Director March 6, 2015

/S/    H. BRIAN THOMPSON

H. Brian Thompson

Director March 6, 2015
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit Description

Incorporated By Reference

Exhibit No. Form SEC File No.
Original

Exhibit No.
Filing
Date

Filed
Herewith

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated November 14, 2012
between Pendrell Corporation, a Delaware corporation
and Pendrell Washington Corporation, a Washington
corporation

8-K 001-33008 2.1 11/15/12

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of Pendrell Corporation, a
Washington corporation

8-K 001-33008 3.1 11/15/12

3.2 Bylaws of Pendrell Corporation, a Washington
corporation

8-K 001-33008 3.2 11/15/12

4.1 Tax Benefits Preservation Plan dated as of January 29,
2010, by and between ICO Global Communications
(Holdings) Limited and BNY Mellon Shareowner
Services, as Rights Agent

8-K 001-33008 4.1 02/01/10

4.2 Subscription Form and Form of Rights Certificate 8-K 001-33008 4.19 02/18/10

10.1 Form of Director and Executive Officer Indemnification
Agreement of Pendrell Corporation, a Washington
corporation

8-K 001-33008 10.1 11/15/12

10.2 Indemnification Agreement, dated August 11, 2000,
between ICO-Teledesic Global Limited and Eagle River
Investments, LLC

10-12G 000-52006 10.14 05/15/06

10.3 Indemnification Agreement, dated July 26, 2000, among
ICO-Teledesic Global Limited, CDR-Satco, L.L.C.,
Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc. and The Clayton, Dubilier
& Rice Fund VI Limited Partnership

10-12G 000-52006 10.15 05/15/06

10.4 Indemnification Agreement, dated July 17, 2000, between
ICO-Teledesic Global Limited and Cascade Investment,
LLC

10-12G 000-52006 10.16 05/15/06

10.5* ICO Global Communications (Holdings) Limited 2000
Stock Incentive Plan, As Amended and Restated effective
June 15, 2007

10-Q 001-33008 10.20.1 08/14/07

10.6* Form of Class A Common Stock Option Agreement under
2000 Stock Incentive Plan

10-12G 000-52006 10.21 05/15/06

10.7* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan

10-12G 000-52006 10.23 05/15/06
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Exhibit Description

Incorporated By Reference

Exhibit No. Form SEC File No.
Original

Exhibit No.
Filing
Date

Filed
Herewith

10.8* Pendrell Corporation 2012 Equity Incentive Plan 8-K 001-33008 10.1 08/28/12

10.9* Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan

10-K 001-33008 10.9 03/08/13

10.10* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2012
Equity Incentive Plan

10-K 001-33008 10.10 03/08/13

10.11* Board Compensation Policy, effective January 1, 2013 10-K 001-33008 10.11 03/08/13

10.12 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement 8-K 001-33008 10.1 06/06/08

10.13* Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement
between Pendrell Corporation (formerly ICO Global
Communications (Holdings) Limited) and Benjamin G.
Wolff dated July 1, 2011

8-K 001-33008 10.4 07/08/11

10.14* Separation Agreement effective November 19, 2014
between Pendrell Corporation and its subsidiaries and
Benjamin G. Wolff

X

10.15* Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement
between Pendrell Corporation (formerly ICO Global
Communications (Holdings) Limited) and R. Gerard
Salemme dated July 1, 2011, as supplemented by addenda
dated August 26, 2014 and January 1, 2015

X

10.16* Retention Agreement effective February 16, 2015 between
Pendrell Corporation and R. Gerard Salemme

X

10.17* Employment Letter Agreement between Pendrell
Corporation and Robert S. Jaffe dated June 7, 2012

8-K 001-33008 10.1 06/14/12

10.18* Severance and Release Agreement effective April 18, 2014
between Pendrell Corporation and Robert S. Jaffe

X

10.19* Employment Letter Agreement between Pendrell
Corporation and David H. Rinn dated February 25, 2013

8-K 001-33008 10.1 03/01/13

10.20* Employment Letter Agreement between Pendrell
Corporation and Steven A. Ednie dated August 28, 2014, as
supplemented by an addendum dated February 13, 2015

X

10.21* Employment Letter Agreement between Pendrell
Corporation and Scott G. Richardson dated July 11, 2012, as

X
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Exhibit Description

Incorporated By Reference

Exhibit No. Form SEC File No.
Original

Exhibit No.
Filing
Date

Filed
Herewith

supplemented by addenda dated January 1, 2015 and
February 13, 2015

10.22* Employment Letter Agreement between Pendrell
Corporation (formerly ICO Global Communications
(Holdings) Limited) and Timothy M. Dozois dated July 1,
2011, as supplemented by addenda dated January 1, 2015 and
February 13, 2015

X

16.1 Letter of Deloitte & Touche LLP dated May 28, 2014
addressed to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

8-K 001-33008 16.1 05/30/14

21.1 List of Subsidiaries X

23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

X

23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

X

31.1 Certification of the principal executive officer required by
Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)

X

31.2 Certification of the principal financial and accounting officer
required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)

X

32.1 Certifications required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b)
and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code (18 U.S.C. § 1350)

X

101 The following financial statements from Pendrell
Corporation�s 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2014 formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii)
the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Loss), (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Shareholders� Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements

X

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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